
Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services is asked to contact
the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting.

TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA
Regular Meeting

Wednesday, July 11, 2018
5:30 PM

Council Chambers

ITEMS 1-8 LED BY TOWN ADMINISTRATOR

1.    CALL TO ORDER

2.    PROOF OF POSTING

3.    ROLL CALL - NON-PUBLIC SESSION #1

4.    NON-PUBLIC SESSION #1

4.a    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (a) The dismissal, promotion, or compensation of any public employee or
the disciplining of such employee, or the investigation of any charges against him or her.

4.b    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (b) The hiring of any person as a public employee.

4.c    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (c) Matters which, if discussed in public, would likely affect adversely the
reputation of any person, other than a member of the public body itself.

5.    CALL TO ORDER - PUBLIC SESSION WILL BEGIN IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING THE
NON-PUBLIC SESSION NOTED ABOVE.

6.    ROLL CALL - PUBLIC SESSION

7.    PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

8.    TOWN COUNCIL REORGANIZATION - PART I

8.a    Town Clerk swearing-in of all new Councilors as a group

8.b    Election of Chair, Vice-Chair and Secretary

9.    SPECIAL RECOGNITIONS

1



Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services is asked to contact
the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting.

10.    SCHEDULED APPOINTMENTS

10.a    Town Clerk, Todd Rainier - Civil Forfeitures for Unlicensed Dogs (see new business item
21a for details)

11.    TOWN COUNCIL REORGANIZATION - PART II

11.a    First meeting of the New Town Council, complete section 2a 3-11 of Town Council Rules of
Procedures

TC Rules 041118.pdf

Adm Code Annual Review 063018.pdf

Admin Code 080917.pdf

Hooksett_s_Post_Issuance_Compliance_Policy.pdf

11.b    Town Council Board/Committee Assignments for 2018-2019 
Staff_Report - Council Assignments.docx

12.    APPROVAL OF MINUTES

12.a    Public:  06/20/18
TC Minutes 062018-U.docx

12.b    Public:  06/27/18

12.c    Non-Public:  06/20/18

12.d    Non-Public:  06/27/18

13.    AGENDA OVERVIEW

14.    PUBLIC HEARINGS

14.a    Public Hearing to accept $11,951.44 in grant funds from the Merrimack Conservation
Partnership Land Transaction Grant Program to the Town of Hooksett for the Conservation
Easement known as the Heroux Property "Clay Pond III"  project Heroux Property 73.5 acres, Tax
Map 4, Lot 9 North Candia Road per RSA 31:95-b III (a) (see New Business item 21b for details).

071118 CONCOM GRANT PH.doc

15.    CONSENT AGENDA

15.a    On April 25, 2018, the Town Council approved accepting donations to fund the K9 Program.

Motion to accept the donation of $1,985.00 from citizens and business owners, to the Town of
Hooksett for the Hooksett Police Department per RSA 31:95-b, III (b) and return that amount to the
Police Departments, K9 trust Fund.

2

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/208059/TC_Rules_041118.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/208068/Adm_Code_Annual_Review_063018.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/208060/Admin_Code_080917.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/208061/Hooksett_s_Post_Issuance_Compliance_Policy.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/207935/Staff_Report_-_Council_Assignments.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/208053/TC_Minutes_062018-U.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/208084/071118_CONCOM_GRANT_PH.pdf


Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services is asked to contact
the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting.

Staff Report K9 July 11.docx

20180627122211546.pdf

16.    TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT

17.    PUBLIC INPUT - 15 MINUTES

18.    NOMINATIONS AND APPOINTMENTS

19.    15 MINUTE RECESS

20.    OLD BUSINESS

20.a    Budget Transfers

21.    NEW BUSINESS

21.a    Civil Forfeitures for Unlicensed Dogs
staff report - Dogs 2018-1.docx

Civil Forfeiture RSA 466 14.docx

21.b    Accept $11,951.44 in grant funds from the Merrimack Conservation Partnership Land
Transaction Grant Program to the Town of Hooksett for the Conservation Easement known as the
Heroux Property "Clay Pond III"  project Heroux Property 73.5 acres, Tax Map 4, Lot 9 North
Candia Road per RSA 31:95-b III (a).

Staff Report - Clay Pond III - Staff Report.pdf

Conservation Grant - Clay Pond III.pdf

21.c    Street Name Approval off Post Road
20180702143531605.pdf

21.d    Town Report Business
Staff_Report - Council Report Business.docx

21.e    NHMA Annual Legislative Policy Process
Staff Report NHMA Policies 2018.docx

NHMA POLICY 2018.pdf

22.    SUB-COMMITTEE REPORTS
3

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/207324/Staff_Report_K9_July_11.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/207325/20180627122211546.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/208063/staff_report_-_Dogs_2018-1.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/208064/Civil_Forfeiture_RSA_466_14.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/204883/Staff_Report_-_Clay_Pond_III_-_Staff_Report.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/204884/Conservation_Grant_-_Clay_Pond_III.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/208723/20180702143531605.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/207940/Staff_Report_-_Council_Report_Business.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/208118/Staff_Report_NHMA_Policies_2018.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/208101/NHMA_POLICY_2018.pdf


Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services is asked to contact
the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting.

23.    PUBLIC INPUT

24.    NON-PUBLIC SESSION #2

24.a    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (a) The dismissal, promotion, or compensation of any public employee or
the disciplining of such employee, or the investigation of any charges against him or her.

24.b    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (b) The hiring of any person as a public employee.

24.c    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (c) Matters which, if discussed in public, would likely affect adversely the
reputation of any person, other than a member of the public body itself.

25.    ADJOURNMENT

Public Input

1. Two 15-minute Public Input sessions will be allowed during each Council Meeting. Time
will be divided equally among those wishing to speak, however,no person will be allowed
to speak for more than 5 minutes. 

2. No person may address the council more than twice on any issue in any
meeting.Comments must be addressed to the Chair and must not be personal or
derogatory about any other person.

3. Any questions must be directly related to the topic being discussed and must be
addressed to the Chair only, who after consultation with Council and Town Administrator,
will determine if the question can be answered at that time. Questions cannot be directed
to an individual Councilor and must not be personal in nature. Issues raised during Public
Input, which cannot be resolved or answered at that time, or which require additional
discussion or research, will be noted by the Town Administrator who will be responsible
for researching and responding to the comment directly during normal work hours or by
bringing to the Council for discussion at a subsequent meeting. The Chair reserves the
right to end questioning if the questions depart from clarification to deliberation.

4. Council members may request a comment be added to New Business at a subsequent
meeting. 

5. No one may speak during Public Input except the person acknowledged by the Chair.
Direct questions or comments from the audience are not permitted during Public Input.

4



Town of Hooksett  

Town Council Rules of Procedures 

Adopted as of:  01/10/2001 

Amended as of:  04/11/18 

 

 

Resolved by the Town Council of the Town of Hooksett, NH that the following be and hereby are adopted as 

the Rules of the Hooksett Town Council.  

 

1. The Following Rules shall be adopted by a majority of the Hooksett Town Council and these 

rules shall become effective immediately upon their adoption. 

a. Riggins Rules and Parliamentary Law at a Glance by E.C. Utter should be used as a guide 

when proper procedure is in question except where modified herein. 

b. Acceptable Procedure is determined by the acting Chair.  

 

2. Procedures for electing officers are as follows: 

a. Annually, at the first meeting of the new Town Council:  

1. The Town Clerk shall swear-in all new Councilors as a group. 

The members thereof shall: 

2. Choose, from among their members, a Chair, a Vice Chair and a Secretary.  In 

addition to the powers conferred upon the Chair, the Vice Chair and the 

Secretary, they shall continue to have all the rights, privileges and immunities of 

a member of the Town Council. 

3. Motion that the Town Council confirms by a roll call vote, that the Town of 

Hooksett will adopt RSA 31:104, 31:105 and 31:106 to provide immunity and 

indemnify all Town Councilors, other elected officials, employees, agents as 

well as appointed officials that serve on committees and boards within the Town 

of Hooksett; specifically covering immunity from civil liability for discretionary 

acts, according to RSA 31:104, indemnification for costs of defense of civil 

suits, according to RSA 31:105 and indemnification for civil rights claims, 

according to RSA 31:106. 

4. Motion to have the Town Council Chair sign ancillary documents as agent to 

expend as a result of Town Council prior approval of the documents. 

5. Motion to have the Town Council Chair complete the Council’s section of the 

Annual Report. 

6. Motion to have the Town Council Chair complete Tax Deed Waivers. 

7. Motion to adopt the Town Council Rules of Procedures. 

8. Motion to adopt the Administrative Code (which includes the Investment and 

Fund Balance Policies). 

9. Motion to have the Tax Collector sign payment plans for deedable properties. 

10. Motion to have the Town Administrator approve payment plans for deedable 

properties (Town Administrator cannot forgive interest or principal). 

11. Motion to have a Councilor work with the Administrative Services Coordinator 

to coordinate the Town Council Old Home Day booth (3
rd

 Saturday in 

September) and Employee Appreciation Picnic (Friday in October prior to 

Columbus Day holiday)  

b. The above election shall be by majority vote of the Town Council present at the first 

meeting. 

c. Duties of Officers 

1. Chair:  

a. The Chair with the Town Administrator shall post all meetings and set 

meeting agenda. 

5



Town Council Rules of Procedures 2 
b. Lead all meetings in an orderly manner using these procedures, 

Hooksett’s Town Charter, Riggins Rules and Parliamentary Law as guides 

for appropriate protocol. 

2. Vice Chair:  

a. In the absence of the Chair, the Vice Chair shall conduct the Council 

Meeting until such time as the Chair is present.  

3. Council Secretary:  

a. The Council Secretary shall be responsible for recording the attendance of 

Council members by roll call.  (If available taped voice vote may be used) 

at the beginning of each meeting. 

b. The Council Secretary shall be responsible for polling and recording all roll 

call votes.  

c. If the Council Secretary is absent, the chair shall ask for a volunteer.  If 

there is no volunteer, the Chair shall appoint a Council member to act as 

Council Secretary until such time as the Council Secretary is present.  

d. The Town Council Secretary shall act as clerk of the Council and shall 

review and approve (with or without edits) the draft (unofficial) minutes of 

the meeting recorded by the Recording Clerk. If there is no Recording 

Clerk present at meeting, the Town Council Secretary will be asked to keep 

minutes. Minutes and attachments shall be posted separately from each 

other.  Only the minutes’ section will appear in the Town Council agenda 

packet. 

e. The Town Council Secretary shall perform such other duties in the meeting 

as may be requested by the presiding officer of Council. 

f. In case of the absence of the Chair and the Vice Chair the Council 

Secretary shall call the Council to order and act as Chair. 

 

3. Council Meetings  

a. The Council shall meet in regular session on the 2
nd

 and 4
th

 Wednesday of every month, 

except as noted on Town Calendar, at 6:00pm.  When time permits, a regular meeting may 

be adjoined to a workshop session.  

b. The place of meetings shall be the Council Chambers unless otherwise designated.  

c. A quorum of the Council for the transaction of any business shall be two-thirds (2/3) of 

the members currently in office. The Council shall not recognize a Councilor’s electronic 

method(s) of participation, attendance, or quorum.  

d. The Council reserves the right to end meetings at 9:30.  The Council shall motion to 

extend public session meetings past 9:30pm as follows “motion to extend public session 

until meeting is adjourned”. Uncovered business will be included in the next meeting 

agenda.  Meeting may be closed by a 2/3 roll call vote. 

e. The Council may meet for an informal workshop session or special meetings by Council 

vote on an as needed basis, in accordance of Section 3.5 C of the Town Charter.  The 

place of meeting shall be the Council Chambers.  

f. When, after consultation with the Vice Chair and the Town Administrator, the Chair 

determines that the Council has insufficient business to warrant a meeting, the Chair may 

cancel said meeting after informing all councilors and receiving individual approval from 

2/3 of the council members and shall not be inconsistent with the meeting provisions of 

the Town Charter.  Agenda items scheduled for a meeting that is canceled shall be carried 

over to the next regular meeting. 

g. Council members shall be seated in Council Chambers as determined by consensus of the 

Council. The Chair, Vice-Chair and Secretary shall be seated at the head of the Council 

table in Chambers.   

6



Town Council Rules of Procedures 3 
h. Council members, staff and members of the general public participating in meetings shall 

address all questions or remarks through the Chair confine their remarks to the merit of 

pending questions; and shall not engage in personalities.  

i. Any member may leave the Council Chambers while in regular session after notice to the 

Chair of pressing business providing there is no loss of quorum as determined by the 

Chair. 

 

4. Town Employees 

a. The Town Administrator will attend all regular meetings or request representation from a 

Town Department to attend in their place. 

b. The Town Administrator shall be responsible for providing the Council with necessary 

background information on all items of business before the Council.  

c. The Town Administrator may have the head of any department or division or other 

employee of the Town in attendance at any meeting when items within their responsibility 

or knowledge is being discussed.  All questions shall be directed to the Town 

Administrator who may, when necessary, defer to a department head or employee.  Staff 

should be made aware of all items on the agenda to be ready to discuss items in respect to 

their department or area of responsibility. 

 

5.  Voting 

a. Every member present, including the Chair, when a question is put shall vote either aye 

(yes) or nay (no) or abstain and give reason for abstaining, in accordance with the Town 

Charter. 

b. Council Members wishing to abstain from voting shall so indicate and give reason for 

doing so.  

c. All votes shall be voice votes unless determined to be a roll call vote. 

d. Roll call votes should be used anytime there is a motion based on 1) a public hearing item, 

2) any monetary item over $10,000 and 3) at the request of any Councilor for any matter. 

e. Roll call votes shall be in a random order with the Chair voting last.   

 

6. Debate  

a. Council members must raise their hand to be recognized by the Chair. 

b. Rules of Debate on all motions shall be as follows: 

1. The council member, who introduces a motion, may speak to that motion.  

Thereafter, every council member may speak to the motion two times only.  The 

sponsoring Council member may also address the motion two times, thereby 

allowing the sponsor the right to address his or her their motion a total of three 

times.  

2. If by 2/3 vote it is determined additional discussion is needed each council 

member may only speak an additional 2 times on a motion. 

3. Decorum in debate: In order to assist in the carrying out of debate in an orderly 

and productive manner, Council members shall:  

a. Address all questions and remarks through the Chair. Do not address 

audience or council members.  

b. When commenting on another Councilor’s statement or question, identify 

the speaker, statement and when the statement was made.  

c. Confine remarks to the merits of the pending question. 

d. Not engage in personalities or question the motives of other Councilors.  

c. Any member who wishes to force an end to debate must first obtain the floor by being 

duly recognized to speak by the chair and must then move the Previous Question.  Such a 

motion must be seconded, and then adopted by a two-thirds vote, or by unanimous 

7



Town Council Rules of Procedures 4 
consent.  It is not in order to interrupt a speaker with cries of “Question” or “Call the 

question.”, and even if no one is speaking, it is still necessary to seek recognition. 

 

 

7. Order of Business 

a. Agenda Order of Council Meetings 

I. Call to Order 

II. Proof of Posting 

III. Roll Call 

IV. Pledge of Allegiance 

V. Special Recognitions 

VI. Scheduled Appointments 

VII. Approval of minutes 

VIII. Agenda Overview 

IX. Public Hearings 

X. Consent Agenda 

XI. Town Administrator’s Report 

XII. Public Input 

XIII. Nominations/Appointments 

XIV. 15 Minute Recess 

XV. Old Business 

XVI. New Business 

XVII. Subcommittee Reports 

XVIII. Public Input 

XIX. Non-Public Session 

XX. Adjournment 

b. Public Input 

1. Two 15-minute Public Input sessions will be allowed during each Council 

Meeting.  Time will be divided equally among those wishing to speak; however, 

no person will be allowed to speak for more than 5 minutes.  

2. No person may address the council more than twice on any issue in any meeting.  

Comments must be addressed to the Chair and must not be personal or 

derogatory about any other person. 

3. Any questions must be directly related to the topic being discussed and must be 

addressed to the Chair only, who after consultation with Council and Town 

Administrator, will determine if the question can be answered at that time.  

Questions cannot be directed to an individual Councilor and must not be 

personal in nature.  Issues raised during Public Input, which cannot be resolved 

or answered at that time, or which require additional discussion or research, will 

be noted by the Town Administrator who will be responsible for researching and 

responding to the comment directly during normal work hours or by bringing to 

the Council for discussion at a subsequent meeting.  The Chair reserves the right 

to end questioning if the questions depart from clarification to deliberation. 

4. Council members may request a comment be added to New Business at a 

subsequent meeting.  

5. No one may speak during Public Input except the person acknowledged by the 

Chair.  Direct questions or comments from the audience are not permitted during 

Public Input. 

c. Nominations for all Board and Committee applicants may be made during the 

nominations/appointments portions of the Council meeting. Boards and Committees shall 

receive their respective applications and make recommendations for nominations. 

8



Town Council Rules of Procedures 5 
Appointment vote for a nominee will be scheduled at the next Council meeting.  

Nominations and appointments for new July terms shall be at the June Town Council 

meetings. 

d. Scheduled Appointments 

1. A scheduled appointment shall have one person as a speaker when possible and 

follow the rules for addressing the Council. 

2. A scheduled appointment shall not exceed 15 minutes to address the Council 

unless the Council votes to extend. 

3. Board and Committee applicants shall be invited to attend a Council meeting as 

a scheduled appointment to state their interest.  This meeting shall be either prior 

to or on the same night of their nomination. 

4. Boards and Committees shall meet at minimum once a year as a scheduled 

appointment to provide an overview of their activities and member attendance 

reports. 

e. Old Business 

1. Business carried over from a previous meeting.  

f. New Business 

1. New Business should be submitted to the Town Administrator or Council Chair.  

2. New Business submitted by noon the Wednesday before a regular meeting may 

be considered for the next meeting by request. The Chair may schedule the topic 

on the Agenda under New Business as the schedule allows.  Any new business 

brought forward at a council meeting shall not be acted upon at that meeting 

except by a motion to waive this rule by vote of 2/3
rd

 of the members present.   

3. New Business submitted after noon the Wednesday preceding a regular 

scheduled meeting will be considered for the next meeting agenda unless time 

sensitivity is determined by Town Administrator or Chair. 

8. Non-Public Session 

a. The Council shall motion to exit in non-public, then motion to seal the minutes of the non-

public session as appropriate. 

b. Non-public sessions do not require motions to extend the meeting past 9:30pm. 

c. Non-public minutes shall consist of the subject matter and motions only. No minutes of 

the subject discussion shall be taken. 

d. A councilor not present at the time non-public session minutes are taken shall receive 

these sealed minutes along with the rest of the Council.  

e. Non-public minutes and/or material in possession of Town Councilors at a Council 

meeting shall be handed into the Administrative Services Coordinator at the end of the 

meeting for shredding of confidential information. 

f. Unsealing of the non-public session minutes for the current fiscal year 

(June 1
st
 to May 31

st
) shall occur annually at the Council’s last meeting in May when, in 

the opinion of a majority of members, the circumstances that sealed the minutes no longer 

apply in accordance with RSA 91:3 III. 

9. Filing Agenda items 

a. Every item of business to come before the Council for action must be filed with the Town 

Administrator or Council Chair no later than noon the Wednesday prior to the regular 

Council Meeting. 

b. The Agenda shall be posted by the close of business on the Wednesday prior to the regular 

Council Meeting. 

c. It shall be the duty of the Town Administrator to mail by first class postage said agenda 

and any available supporting documents to each Councilor (if not already picked-up) by 

Thursday of the week prior to the regular Council Meeting unless a Councilor requests, in 

writing, to receive it in electronic format only. 

9



Town Council Rules of Procedures 6 
 

10. Addressing the Council     

a. Persons other than members of the Council shall not be permitted to address the Council 

except during the designated agenda Public Input or by invitation of the Chair.  

b. A time limit for addressing the Council may be established by the Chair.  

c. The speaker shall not enter into a debate with any person, the Chair or Council members. 

  

11. Amendment To Rules 

a. Council rules may be suspended by a 2/3-majority vote of all Council members.  The 

purpose for suspension must be clearly stated before the vote is taken and 2/3 of all 

Council members must declare the matter one of such priority that it would be detrimental 

to hold over until the next regular Council Meeting.  

b. The rules may be amended or new rules adopted by a 2/3 vote of all members of the 

Council. Any such proposed alteration or amendment by any Councilor shall be submitted 

in writing at a regular Council Meeting under the order of new business. 

 

11. Community Outreach 

a. The Council Chair has the authority to act on the Council’s behalf to present and/or sign 

letters of achievement for community outreach to include but not limited to Town of 

Hooksett departments, businesses, residents, and volunteer or membership groups.  This 

authority is for times when the community outreach happens off-schedule to Town 

Council meetings. 

 

12. Procedure for Adoption of Ordinances pursuant to Section 3.6 of the Charter.  

 

a. Prior to a Council member introducing an ordinance, the Council shall discuss the contents 

which may include editorial revisions and textual modifications. An ordinance needing 

revisions based on this discussion will be brought back to the Council in a final format at their 

next scheduled meeting. The final version of an ordinance shall be introduced by one 

Councilor for a public hearing at the Council’s next scheduled meeting. No second to a 

motion and/or vote is required to move an ordinance to a public hearing. The Council shall 

not take final action on any proposed ordinance until at least seven (7) days after said public 

hearing(s).  

 

b. After the public hearing the Council shall put the proposed ordinance in final form, which 

may include editorial revisions and textual modifications resulting from the proceedings of 

that hearing. An additional public hearing shall be held if the ordinance is substantively 

altered by the Town Council after public hearing. Subsequent public hearings shall be held at 

least 14 days after the prior public hearing and with the notice provided in Section 3.5 (A) of 

the Charter. The Council shall not take final action on any proposed ordinance until at least 

seven (7) days after said public hearing(s).  

 

13. Procedure for Town Administrator Annual Evaluation 

 

a. Council’s first meeting in May – Council will receive Town Administrator’s self-evaluation to include status 

on his/her goals with comments for period ending June 30
th

 of the same fiscal year along with a blank 

evaluation form. 

b. Council’s second meeting in May = Councilors are to complete and submit the Town Administrator 

evaluation form via e-mail to the Council Chair and cc: Administrative Services Coordinator (or hand deliver 

to same at meeting). 
10



Town Council Rules of Procedures 7 
c. First week in June = Administrative Services Coordinator and Council Chair consolidate each Councilor’s 

Town Administrator evaluation data into one report. 

d. Council’s first meeting in June – Councilors to review consolidated Town Administrator evaluation report 

for edits. 

e. Council’s second meeting in June – Councilors and Town Administrator to receive Town Administrator 

evaluation report in agenda packet and review at this meeting. 

f. Council’s July Workshop meeting – New council to establish goals for new fiscal year. 

 

 

14. Standing Moment of Silence 

a. The Council Chair may call a moment of silence for the deceased with ascent of the Town 

Council at the beginning of the meeting 

 

  

 15. Special Recognition 

a. Special Recognition may include but is not limited to: 

 Hooksett Youth Achiever of the Month 

 Boston Post Cane Recipient 

 Retiring employees 

 Longevity employees (at Council’s last regularly scheduled meeting each 

September) 

 

16. Town Administrator’s Report 

a. New hires will be invited and encouraged to attend the Council meeting following his/her 

hire date when the Town Administrator will announce his/her Department, name and start 

date.” 

 

17. Approval of Minutes 

a. Council Final Acceptance (Approval) of Minutes:  Council, at their next regularly 

scheduled meeting, reviews and accepts (with or without edits) the minutes (draft) of the 

prior meeting. 

b. Council Correction to Previously Accepted (Approved) Minutes: If there are errors in 

motions identified in previously accepted minutes, the Council shall motion in their 

current meeting minutes to make the correction. The older incorrect minutes shall be 

updated & reposted as “corrected” and showing the date of the motion for the correction.  

Errors in minutes of descriptions of subjects discussed may be corrected if the description 

would change the motion of the subject.  Scrivener’s errors (typos) may be corrected by 

the Recording Clerk without a motion of the Council.  Minutes are not required to include 

stenographic or verbatim transcripts. 

c. Council Minutes for Town Archives:  Draft, accepted and corrected minutes shall be 

submitted to the Town Clerk for archives. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11



Town Council Rules of Procedures 8 
 

18. Public Hearings 

a. The Town of Hooksett follows the NH State statutes (RSAs) and Town Charter in 

determining when a public hearing is required for agenda items before the Town 

Council.   

 
Below are the items that require public hearings (these have a public notice in the Union Leader): 

 New or amended Town Ordinances -  notice is per Chapter 231:132-a of the NH Revised Statutes 

annotated, and section 3.6 of the Hooksett Town Charter 

 New or amended Town Charter – notice is per NH RSA 49-B:5 

 Accept Donation/Grant/Reimbursement of Funds over $10,000 – notice per RSA 31:95-b, III (a)  (ex. 1) 

NHDOT Bridge Aid funds reimbursement for the Benton Road Culvert project, 2) FEMA funds for the 
reimbursement of February 8

th
, 9

th
, & 10

th
 2013 severe snowstorm expenses,  3) New Hampshire Highway 

Safety Agency grant to allow for 18 DWI/DUI overtime patrols) 

 Accept Donation of Property over $5,000 – notice per RSA 31:95 e, II   (ex. Catholic Medical Center in 

Manchester NH to the Hooksett Fire-Rescue Department and the Town of Hooksett in the amount of 
$14,500.00 (Physio-Control LUCAS 2 device) 

 New or amended Hazard Mitigation Plan  

 Town Roadway Improvements – (ex. project alternatives for the roadway improvements design(s) at the 

Hooksett Hackett Hill Road and Rte. 3A intersection)   

 Discontinuance of Class VI Town Roadway  

 Conservation Easements – notice is per NH RSA 36-A & NH RSA 477:45-47 
Note:  Land use items require 10 day prior public notice in Union Leader and all other items require 7 days.  

 
Public Hearings not required, however Town may conduct out of courtesy (these do NOT have a public notice 

in the Union Leader): 

 Establishing Town Roadway Speed Limits 

 Renaming Town Roadways - (ex. Water Works Drive, Hooksett, NH for the closed off portion/loop of 

Industrial Park Dr. that will be closed off due to the GE Expansion) 

 Potential Departmental Reorganizations   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12



Town Council Rules of Procedures 9 
 

Town Council Rules of Procedures 

Adopted:  01/10/2001 

Amendments 

 

Date Amended  Section Amended 

August 14, 2003  Added Section 7-c. 

    Added Section 7-b-1, 2 & 3. 

Added Section 7-f-2. 

 

January 27, 2010  Changed Section 7-a Scheduled Appointments – added 7 pm. 

Changed Section 7 - Order of Business - moved Non-Public Session towards 

the end of the meeting. 

 

March 9, 2011 Changed Section 7 - Order of Business – added Consent Agenda after Agenda 

Overview and deleted Scheduled Appointment time (7:00 pm).  Scheduled 

Appointments to start immediately after Nominations/Appointments. 

 

October 12, 2011 Added Section 6-c.   

 

November 30, 2011 Changed Section 7-a Agenda Order – Moved “Town Administrator’s Report” 

up before “Public Input”. 

 

February 22, 2012 Changed Section 7-b    Public Input (See file) 

 

August 14, 2013  Changed Section 5. d. sentence 2 “The Chair” to “Any Councilor” 

    Removed Section 5.d. sentence 3 

Changed Section 7. d.  “spokesman” to “speaker” 

Added to Section 7.d. “when possible” after “spokesman” 

Changed Section 7. f. 3. “only if” to “unless”  

Added Section 8. c. at end, “unless a Councilor requests, in  

writing, to receive it in electronic format only.”   

 

December 18, 2013  Added Section 11 Community Outreach 

 

May 28, 2014    Added Section 12 Procedure for Adoption of Ordinances pursuant  

to Section 3.6 of the Charter. 

  

August 13, 2014   

 Section 2.a - Annually, at the first meeting of the new Town Council – added: 
o 1. The Town Clerk shall swear-in all new Councilors as a group. 
o 3. Motion that the Town Council confirms by a roll call vote, that the Town of Hooksett will adopt RSA 

31:104, 31:105 and 31:106 to provide immunity and indemnify all Town Councilors, other elected officials, 
employees, agents as well as appointed officials that serve on committees and boards within the Town of 
Hooksett; specifically covering immunity from civil liability for discretionary acts, according to RSA 31:104, 
indemnification for costs of defense of civil suits, according to RSA 31:105 and indemnification for civil 
rights claims, according to RSA 31:106. 

o 4. Motion to have the Town Council Chair sign ancillary documents as agent to expend as a result of Town 
Council prior approval of the documents. 

o 5. Motion to adopt the Town Council Rules of Procedures. 
 

 Section 2.c.3 – Council Secretary: 
o d. Changed - Administrative Assistant to Recording Clerk and Added - The posted minutes shall have an 

attachment of the overview sheet of the Council reading file and Council Chair signed ancillary documents. 

13



Town Council Rules of Procedures 10 
 

 Section 3 – Council Meetings: 

o c. Added - A quorum of the Council for the transaction of any business shall be two-thirds (2/3) of 

the members currently in office. The Council shall not recognize a Councilor’s electronic 

method(s) of participation, attendance, or quorum.  
 

 Section 5 – Voting 

o c. removed – On roll call votes, Council Members shall vote alphabetically by last name, said 

name to be called on a rotating basis so that the name first called at the previous vote shall be 

name last called for the next vote, with the Chair voting last.  Added - Roll call votes shall be in a 

random alternate order with the last Councilor who made a motion to be the first Councilor to 

vote on the next roll call. 
 

 Section 7 – Order of Business added: 
o IV. Special Recognitions (after Pledge of Allegiance) and VIl. Public Hearings 

o c. changed appointments to applicants and added - Boards and Committees shall receive their 

respective applications and make recommendations for nominations. Appointment vote for a 

nominee will be scheduled at the next Council meeting.  Nominations and appointments for new 

July terms shall be at the June Town Council meetings. 
o d. added: -  

 2. A scheduled appointment shall not exceed 15 minutes to address the Council unless the 

Council votes to extend. 

 3. Board and Committee applicants shall be invited to attend a Council meeting as a 

scheduled appointment to state their interest.  This meeting shall be either prior to or on 

the same night of their nomination. 

 4. Boards and Committees shall meet at minimum once a year as a scheduled appointment 

to provide an overview of their activities and member attendance reports. 
 

 New Section 8 – Non-Public Session – Added: 

o a. The Council shall motion to exit in non-public, then motion to seal the minutes of the non-

public session as appropriate. 

 

September 10, 2014  Changed Section Section 5 – Voting c. reworded:  Roll call votes  

    shall be in a random order with the Chair voting last.   

 

 

August 12, 2015  -Section 2.A.6 add:  Motion to adopt Administrative Code. 

-Section 2.C.3.d add: The Town Council Secretary shall act as  

clerk of the Council and shall approve unofficial minutes of the  

meeting recorded by the Recording Clerk. The posted minutes  

shall include a reference of the page number where the attachment  

of the overview sheet of the Council reading file and Council Chair  

signed ancillary documents can be found. 

-Section 3.g. delete: Council members shall be seated in Council  

Chambers as determined by consensus of the Council advice of the  

Chair.  

-Section 3.g. add:  The Chair, Vice-Chair and Secretary shall be  

seated at the head of the Council table in Chambers.   

-Section 8.b. add: Non-public minutes shall consist of the subject  

matter and motions only. No minutes of the subject discussion  

shall be taken. 

-Section 8.c. add: A councilor not present at the time non-public  

session minutes are taken shall receive these sealed minutes  

14



Town Council Rules of Procedures 11 
along with the rest of the Council.  

-Section 8.d. add: Unsealing of the non-public session minutes for  

the current fiscal year (June 1
st
 to May 31

st
) shall occur annually at  

the Council’s last meeting in May when, in the opinion of a  

majority of members, the circumstances that sealed the minutes no  

longer apply in accordance with RSA 91:3 III. 

-Section 13. Add: Procedure for Town Administrator Annual  

 Evaluation 

 

August 24, 2016  Section 2a – added 5,6, 8,9,10,11 

Section 2c1 d – “Minutes and attachments . . . agenda packet.” 

Section 3d – added “The Council shall motion . . . meeting is adjourned” 

Section 8b – added “Non-public . . . past 9:30pm.” 

Section 9a – added  “no later than . . . regular Council Meeting.” 

Section 14 – new section “Moment of Silence” 

Section 15 – Clarified “Special Recognition” 

 

November 9, 2016  Section 7 – Order of Business – moved Scheduled Appointments under Special  

    Recognitions 

 

August 9, 2017  Section 7 – Order of Business – added II Proof of Posting 

    Section 14 – Added “Standing” to Moment of Silence 

Section 16 – Reworded:  New hires will be invited and encouraged to attend a  

the Council meeting following his/her hire date when the Town Administrator 

will announce his/her Department, name and start date with “Welcome to the 

Hooksett Family” 

 

January 24, 2018  Section 8 Non-Public Session – Added: “Non-public minutes and/or material  

    in possession of Town Councilors at a Council meeting shall be handed into  

    the Administrative Services Coordinator at the end of the meeting for  

    shredding of confidential information.”   

 

 

March 28, 2018  Section 2c3d – Council Secretary – further defined responsibility to review  

    draft (unofficial) minutes     

Section 17 – Approval of Minutes – added entire section to further defined 

Council process to approve minutes 

 

April 11, 2018   Section 5c,d,e – Roll Call Votes – further defined Council roll call votes 

    Section 18 – Public Hearings – added entire section to define Council public  

    hearings 

 

 

15



16



T O W N   O F   H O O K S E T T 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE CODE 

 
Adopted:  January 29, 1992 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Amended 
August 9, 2017 

17



2 

 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE CODE 
(Adopted January 29, 1992) 

 
 

Table of Contents 

 
 
 

Sec. 1   Purpose . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 
 
Sec. 2   Departmental Organization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4 
 
Sec. 3   Departmental Functions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5-7 
 
Sec. 4  Boards, Commissions, Committees and other Officials . . . . 8-10 
 
Sec. 5  Administrative Financial Policies and Procedures . . . . . . . . .11-15 
 
Sec. 6  Administrative Operational Policies and Procedures . . . . . . .16 
 
 Amendments details . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .17-19 
 
 Exhibit A – Record Retention Policy . . . . . . . . . . 20-25 
 
 Exhibit B – Investment Policy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .26-31 
 

Exhibit C – Fund Balance Policy . . . . . . . . . . . . . .32-34 
 
Exhibit D – Cellular Phones in the Workplace . . .35-38 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

18



3 

 

 
1. PURPOSE. 
 

This Administrative Code is hereby established for the Town of 
Hooksett for the purpose of dividing the administrative service of the 
Town into departments, divisions and bureaus, and for the purpose of 
defining the functions and duties of each such department, division and 
bureau.  

 
1.1 Severability. 

 
The sections of this Administrative Code and the parts hereof are 
separable.  If any portion or section of the Code of the application 
thereof to any person or circumstance shall be held invalid by a court 
of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of the Code shall not be 
affected thereby.  If a clause, portion of or section of this Code is so 
held invalid, then the applicable provisions of State law, if any, shall 
govern.  
 

1.2 Review. 
 

This document will be reviewed at the beginning of each fiscal year by 
all included Town organizations.  Recommended changes will be 
submitted to the Town Administrator within 30 days.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

19



4 

 

 
2. DEPARTMENTAL ORGANIZATION. 
 

Department    Official Head 
Administration      Town Administrator 
Assessing Town Administrator or Assessor 
Family Services     Family Services Director 
Finance     Finance Director 
Fire-Rescue    Fire Chief 
Public Works    Public Works Director 
Library     Library Director 
Police     Chief of Police  
Tax Collector    Tax Collector  
Wastewater    Superintendent 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

20



5 

 

3. DEPARTMENTAL FUNCTIONS. 
 
3.1 Administration Department: 
The Town Administrator shall supervise and be responsible for the administrative and 
financial affairs of the Town and shall carry out the policies enacted by the Council.  
His/her office shall be charged with the preservation of the health, safety and welfare of 
persons and property and shall see to the enforcement of the ordinances of the Town, 
the Town Charter and the laws of the State of NH.  The Town Administrator shall 
supervise and direct the administration of all Town departments included under Section 
3 of this ordinance and the personnel therein. 
 
The Administration Department shall consist of the Town Administrator and other 
support staff as required; recommended by the Town Administrator and approved by the 
Council.   
 
3.2 Assessing Department: 
The Assessing Department is responsible for establishing and maintaining the value of 
all real property in the Town of Hooksett, for the purpose of taxation.  The department is 
responsible for working with the Town Council, Board of Assessors and Department of 
Revenue Administration.  This department shall prepare all tax warrants and bills, and 
provide assessing information to the general public. 
 
The Department shall be under the supervision of the Town Administrator, if the 
Assessor position is contracted.  If the Assessor position is filled by a hired employee, 
the department shall be under the supervision of the Assessor and shall consist of other 
support staff as required.   
 
3.3 Family Services: 
The Family Services Department administers General Assistance to families in need 
under RSA 165.  It shall assess, investigate and authorize requests for assistance and 
refer applicants to other social services as needed. 
 
Family Services shall be under the direction of the Family Services Director and shall 
consist of support staff as required. 
 
3.4 Finance Department:    
The Finance Department’s major areas of responsibility include budget management, 
accounts payable, cash management and financial reporting.   
 
The Department shall be under the supervision of the Finance Director and shall consist 
of other support staff as required.  
 
3.5 Fire-Rescue Department: 
The Fire-Rescue Department shall protect the lives and property of the inhabitants of the 
Town of Hooksett from the adverse effects of fire, sudden medical emergencies or 
exposure to dangerous conditions created by either man or nature. 
 
The Fire-Rescue Department shall implement fire suppression, emergency response, 
rescue, prevention, inspection, haz-mat, Emergency Management, and investigation 
throughout the Town of Hooksett and as needed through Mutual Aid. 
 

21



6 

 

The Department shall be under the supervision of the Fire Chief with additional support 
staff as required. 
 
3.6 Public Works Department:   
The Public Works Department shall be responsible for the Divisions of Highway, 
Recycling & Transfer, Parks, Recreation, & Cemetaries, and Community Development 
and shall provide support services to other Town departments as necessary. 
 
The Highway Division shall be responsible for road maintenance, fleet maintenance, 
building maintenance and support services to other town departments as necessary.   
 
The Recycling & Transfer Division shall be responsible for solid waste collection, 
recycling and transportation to solid waste disposal sites.  The division shall also 
maintain and operate the transfer station, recycling center and post-closure of the 
Town’s landfill site. 
 
The Parks & Recreation & Cemeteries Division is responsible for the maintenance of all 
public playgrounds, athletic fields, parks, equipment, and related facilities as well as the 
grounds of all Town owned property.  This Division is also responsible for the planning 
and coordination of recreational activities, and providing supervision of Town sponsored 
recreational activities. This Division also coordinates activities with the Cemetery 
Commission and funeral directors, mows, trims the grass and excavates graves in town 
cemeteries. 
 
 
The Community Development Division shall be responsible for planning, engineering, 
and code enforcement.  Planning and engineering shall be responsible for all business 
relating to land use and will be instrumental in the development and implementation of a 
comprehensive plan for the orderly growth and development of the Town. Code 
Enforcement shall be responsible for addressing the enforcement of all building codes, 
ordinances, regulations and laws, where such enforcement is not specifically granted to 
other parties.  Code Enforcement shall also be responsible for the review of applications 
and plans for all construction projects in the Town and subsequent inspections in 
accordance with all local and State rules and regulations. 
 
The Highway, Recycling & Transfer, and Parks, Recreation, & Cemeteries Divisions 
shall be under the supervision of the Public Works Director and shall consist of other 
support staff as required. The Community Development Division shall be under the 
supervision of the Assistant Public Works Director/Engineer and shall consist of other 
support staff as required.  The Assistant Public Works Director/Engineer shall be under 
the supervision of the Public Works Director. 
 
3.7 Library: 
The Library shall provide services in accordance with RSA 202A.   
 
The Department shall be under the supervision of the Library Director and shall consist 
of other support staff as required.   
 

22



7 

 

 
3.8 Police Department: 
The Police Department is responsible for the enforcement of the laws, maintaining order 
in the community, protecting life and property, and assisting the public-at-large in a 
manner consistent with the rights and dignity of all persons as provided for by the law 
and under the Constitution of the United States and the State of New Hampshire.   
 
The Department shall be under the supervision of the Police Chief with additional 
support staff as required. 
 
3.9 Tax Collector: 
The Tax Collector shall be responsible for issuing all tax notices, maintaining documents 
of reported payment, depositing monies in a timely fashion, assessing tax liens on 
delinquent accounts and issuing all licenses and permits, including motor vehicle 
permits, while collecting all fees and all other duties as required.   
 
The Department shall be under the supervision of the Tax Collector and shall consist of 
other support staff as required. 
 
3.10 Wastewater Department: 
The Wastewater Department shall manage the treatment of wastewater within the Town 
of Hooksett and all collection and treatment systems.   
 
The Department shall be under the supervision of a Superintendent, under the general 
supervision of the Sewer Commission, and shall consist of other support staff as 
required. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

23



8 

 

4. Boards, Commissions, Committees and other Officials  
(to include elected or appointed officials.) 

 
The appropriate State laws, The Town Charter, and Town Ordinances, direct the 
listed Boards, Commissions, Committees and other Officials.  The following 
descriptions are for guidance only in the daily conduct of business. 
 
4.1 Budget Committee (9 Elected and 4 Appointed) - Review annual budgets 

submitted by the Town Council, School Board, all Precincts and the Sewer 
Department.  Submit recommended budgets to the Town Voters and 
periodically review all expenditures. 

 
4.2 Cemetery Trustees (Elected) - Arrange for cemetery lot visits and sales, 

maintain vital records relative to burials, manage day-to-day care of 
cemeteries, and manage expenditures of allocated funds. 

 
4.3 Conservation Commission (Appointed) - Research and catalog all open 

space, natural, ecological, wetland or aesthetic areas within the Town; 
develop a program to protect listed areas; and obtain land in the name of 
the Town through gift, purchase, grant, bequest or other legitimate means 
for continued preservation.   

 
4.4 Economic Development Committee (Appointed) – Enhance the vitality 

of the local economy by retaining existing businesses and attracting new 
ones. 
 

4.5 Health Officer (Appointed) – Enforce the state public health rules and 
laws as well as local ordinances and regulations.  Serve as a liaison 
between state officials and the local community on issues concerning local 
public health.   
 

4.6 Heritage Commission (Appointed) – Handle transactions relating to all 
cultural resources including hiring consultants and contractors as needed 
and receiving gifts of money and property, both real and personal, in the 
name of the Town, subject to the approval of the Town Council.  Such gifts 
shall be managed and controlled by the commission for their proper use. 
 

4.7 Library Trustees (Elected) - Manage the Town Library and all property of 
the Town Library; control expenditures of funds received from Town 
appropriations, fines, gifts, and copying charges; and appoint and remove 
with due process the Librarian and other Library staff. 
 

4.8 Moderator (Elected) - Preside over town meetings, regulate the business 
thereof, decide questions of order, and make a public declaration of every 
vote passed.  May prescribe rules of procedure, but such rules may be 
altered by the town. 

24



9 

 

 
4.9 Parks and Recreation Advisory Board (Appointed) - Under the 

jurisdiction of the Town Council, assist the Public Works Department in an 
advisory capacity on recreational projects, recreational budgetary items, 
recreational capital improvements, and with the submittal of applications 
for federal, state, and other grant monies relating to parks and/or 
recreation.  Develop plans and work with the Conservation Commission in 
obtaining and receiving land for recreational purposes. 
 

4.10 Planning Board (Appointed) - Prepare and amend the Master Plan, 
review and recommend Zoning Ordinance amendments to the local 
legislative body and review and act on all subdivision and site plan 
applications. 
 

4.11 Record Retention Committee (Appointed) - In accordance with RSA 33-
A:3, The Town will establish and maintain a Municipal Records Committee 
charged with governing the retention and disposition of municipal records. 
 

4.12 Recycling and Transfer Advisory Committee (Appointed) - Advise the 
Council on matters related to the management of municipal solid waste 
and recycling. 
 

4.13 Sewer Commission (Elected) - Make regulations and decisions as may 
be necessary for the proper functioning of the sewer system and overall 
operation of the Sewer Department, levy special assessments upon land 
benefited by the sewer, establish sewer charge procedures for defraying 
the cost of plant and system operations and manage the maintenance and 
repair of sewer systems. 
 

4.14 Supervisor of the Checklist (Elected) - Care for the checklist in 
compliance with Federal HAVA (Help America Vote Act); determine 
whether or not each individual is qualified to vote; and amending the 
districts within two (2) years of the census.   
 

4.15 Town Clerk (Elected) - Record and maintain all permanent documents 
and perform all other related functions per state statute. 
 

4.16 Town Council (Elected) - Consists of nine elected members, one from 
each District and three At-Large members.  Is the governing body of the 
Town and directed by the specifications of the Town Charter.  Prepares 
and passes ordinances, submits a proposed budget to the Budget 
Committee and gives direction to the Town through the Town 
Administrator and appointed Boards and Committees. 
 

4.17 Town Hall Preservation Committee (Appointed) – Work toward the 
preservation of the old Town Hall. 

25



10 

 

4.18 Town Treasurer (Appointed) – The Treasurer shall have custody of all 
monies belonging to the Town, and shall pay out the same only on orders 
of the body designated by the Town to expend such funds. The Treasurer 
shall deposit such funds in institutions and in such a manner as 
designated by law, and according to the Town’s investment policy, keep 
suitable records, reconcile the General Fund, and subsidiary account bank 
statements monthly, and perform all other related functions per state 
statute. 
 

4.19 Trustees of the Trust Fund (Elected) - Maintain custody of all trust funds 
held by the Town.  Invest the monies as limited by RSA 31 and other state 
statues as they apply. 
 

4.20 Zoning Board of Adjustment (Appointed) - Hear appeals; and administer 
special provisions of the Zoning Ordinance dealing with variances, special 
exceptions and administrative decisions.  Act as the Building Code Board 
of Appeals per RSA 673:I-V. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

26



11 

 

5. Administrative Financial Policies and Procedures. 
 
5.1 Cooperation between Departments.  If possible, it is the duty of 

every department, subject to approval of the Administrator, to furnish to 
any other department such service, equipment, labor and materials as 
may be needed to perform necessary operations.  Expenses will be 
assigned to the appropriate budget when such considerations are 
germane.   

 
5.2 Payment of Monies.  All monies withdrawn from the Town General 

Fund shall be authorized by the Town Administrator and/or his/her 
designee.  Withdrawals may be in the form of a check, wire transfer, 
ACH transfer or other type of electronic banking format used by the 
Town Treasurer.  

 
5.3 Purchasing Procedures.  The purchase of all equipment and supplies 

not taken out of petty cash fund may require the use of standardized 
purchase orders and varying levels of control dependent upon the 
dollar amounts.   

 
5.3.1      Purchase Orders.  Purchase orders shall be used for all purchases of  
      goods and services, including contractual, that in aggregate or  
      individually are $3,001 or more as required by the Town Administrator  
      or recommended by the Finance Director.  It is the responsibility of the  
      department head to complete an electronic purchase order and submit  
      it to the Town Administrator or his/her designee for approval, along  
      with a description of, and reason for, the purchase.  This applies to all  
       items whether being purchased by grant, operating budget, warrant  
       article, capital reserve or other funds.    
 
5.3.2  Approval of Purchases. The level of approval required on a specific 

purchase shall vary depending upon its dollar amount. Total contract or 
job amounts should be used when determining thresholds.  The 
thresholds do not include costs for shipping/freight. 
 
Artificial Division Prohibited – Purchases shall not be artificially divided 
so as to create lower purchase amounts and therefore avoid some 
requirement of this policy. Whether or not a proposed purchase 
constitutes artificial division shall be determined by the Town 
Administrator.   

 
 Amount                                        Approval Level 
           $0 - $3,000                                   Department Head 

 
Purchase up to $3,000 – The Department Head shall have full authority to 
make department purchases of goods or services up to $3,000, which are 

27



12 

 

identified within the department’s annual budget. Electronic purchase 
orders are not required for purchases up to $3,000. 
 

 Amount                                        Approval Level 
           $3,001 - $15,000                       Town Administrator after three competitive  
                                                    quotes or bids required. 
 

Purchases between $3,001 and $15,000 – The Department Head shall 
contact as many vendors as necessary in order to obtain at least three (3) 
written or verbal quotations or shall issue a request for proposals if 
required by the Town Administrator.  All verbal quotes shall be 
documented by date, vendor contact information and dollar amounts.  
The Department Head shall prepare a purchase order for authorization by 
the Town Administrator, thereby requesting approval of their 
recommended vendor.  In the event less than three (3) quotations are 
available; evidence of the attempt to obtain them should be attached. 

 
 Amount                                        Approval Level 
 $15,001 and over                        Town Council after three competitive bids  
 

Purchases Above $15,001 – Purchases having an estimated cost in 
excess of $15,001 shall be bid pursuant to the Competitive Bid Process 
established in this regulation under Section 5.3.5.   

  
 The results of the three competitive quotes or bids required for purchases 

and contracts over $15,000 shall be attached to the purchase order 
request to the Town Administrator.  If Council’s approval is required, the 
Town Administrator in conjunction with the requesting Department Heads 
shall present the bids for Council review and disposition.   

  
 If the Council has voted to make a purchase or enter into a contract, the 

Administrator shall carry out the vote of the Council and enter into such 
transaction on behalf of the Town.  

 
5.3.3  Special Exceptions.  No purchase orders are required for the following 

items: 

 Utilities (telephone, propane, heating fuel, cable, electricity, etc.) 

 Welfare payments 

 Vehicle repairs 

 Human service agencies and associations that have their own line item 
within the approved budget.    

  
 No competitive bids shall be required when only one known sources of 

purchase, and there is no comparable substitute product or services; 
written documentation supporting the sole source may be required by the 
Town Administrator.  

28



13 

 

                          
   No competitive bids shall be required when purchasing through the State 

of New Hampshire or at State of New Hampshire bid prices per Section 
5.12 of the Town Charter 

 
 No competitive bids shall be required when purchasing through a Town 

Council approved Cooperative Purchasing Program.  Cooperative 
purchasing programs are arrangements to agree to aggregate demand to 
get lower prices from selected suppliers.  Co-ops are doing competitive 
bidding for the government.  The co-op’s fees are paid by the contractors.  
It is often used by government agencies to reduce costs of procurement 
and makes the procurement process more efficient. 

 
 Requirements for three competitive bids may be waived in specific 

instances by a 2/3 vote of the Council per Section 5.12 of the Town 
Charter. 

 
5.3.4 Emergency Procurements Emergency procurements may be made 

when a threat to public health, welfare or safety exists, provided that such 
emergency procurement shall be made with such competition as is 
practical under the circumstances. 

 
 In case of an emergency requiring immediate purchase of materials, 

supplies, equipment or services, the Town Administrator hereby 
authorizes the Department Heads to approve such emergency purchase if 
the situation permits.  The Town Administrator shall be notified as soon as 
possible as to the emergency and the associated purchases.  A written 
determination for the basis of the emergency and for the selection of the 
particular contractor or vendor shall accompany the purchase order and 
voucher.  As soon as is practicable, standard purchasing procedures will 
be reinstated. 

 
5.3.5 Competitive Bid Process.  A competitive bid process must be followed if 

the procurement of goods or services involves expenditures of more than 
$15,000.   

 
A. The Administration Department is responsible for the release of all 

bids.  The Town Administrator shall ensure that the requesting 
department provides all relevant information for the time preparation 
and release of bids to be forwarded to the Finance Department.   

 
B. The Request for Proposal  (RFP) must include: 

 
a. Listing of required specifications.  

29



14 

 

b. Adequate public notice, of a minimum of seven (7) calendar 
days prior to the date set for the opening of the bids; notice shall 
include the town website and newspaper advertisement. 

c. Dates for release of bid, return of bid and public bid opening. 
d. A statement reserving the right to cancel or reject a bid.  

 
C. The bid shall be awarded to the lowest bidder that meets the 

specifications and submits proper bond requirements if applicable.  
The low bidders will receive the award unless supporting information 
presented recommends another bid.  The Town Administrator shall 
make the final decision if supporting information justifies other than the 
low bid be awarded.  Local advantage will be considered, but not 
mandated. 

 
D. The RFP, invitation to bid, as well as the bid award notices shall be 

sent from the Department to the Bid Winner, Finance Department and 
the Town Administrator.   

 
E. The Town of Hooksett may accept guaranteed rates for goods or 

services; however it is not obligated to purchase from the guaranteed 
rate vendor if a lower price if available.   

 
5.4     Payment for Goods or Services.  Request for payment for any product or 

service shall be sent to the Finance Department. 
 

Payment for any purchase over $3,001 will NOT be processed without a 
Purchase Order that must accompany the invoice.   
 
Departments are responsible for obtaining new vendor information through 
form W-9. 
 
If any item or service purchased is not acceptable, arrangements must be 
made for a return for credit or an exchange.  A cash refund is prohibited 
unless the vendor insists that a refund must be by cash, and then the 
funds must be returned immediately to the Finance Department for deposit 
to the Town of Hooksett.   

 
5.5 Budget Development.  The Town Administrator will set a budget 

schedule for the year, to include department submittal dates, Town 
Administrator and Town Council review dates. Each individual department 
or committee shall submit their budgetary requests to the Finance Office.  
These requests will include the account number, account description and 
a written justification for each line item.  This information shall be 
consolidated into a report to be submitted to the Town Administrator for 
his/her recommendations. The Council shall receive copies of each 
departmental budget one week before their scheduled review. All 

30



15 

 

information will be tracked and updated by the Finance Department who 
will ultimately produce a report for the entire Town including the following 
information: 

 
Prior Year Appropriation 
Prior Year Expenditures 
Current Year Appropriation 
Current Year Expenditures 
Department Request 
Town Administrator Recommended 
Town Council Recommended 
Budget Committee Recommended 
Variance in Dollars 
Variance as a percentage 
Default 
 
Town Council’s submittal date to the Budget Committee is set by the 
Budget Committee. The Budget Committee should conclude its meetings 
as prescribed by the Town Charter. 

 
5.6 Investment Policy.  In accordance with RSA 41:9 VII, the Council shall  
 annually review and adopt an investment policy for the investment of  
 public funds in conformance with applicable statutes and shall advise the  
 treasurer of such policies.  See exhibit B for policy details. 
 
5.7 Fund Balance Policy.  The Council shall review and adopt the Fund 

Balance Policy annually.  The general purpose of this policy is to maintain 
an adequate level of Unassigned Fund Balance to mitigate financial risks 
that can occur from unforeseen revenue fluctuation and unanticipated 
expenditures.  See exhibit C for policy details. 

 

5.8  Stipends paid to Boards, Commissions and Committees - Stipends  
paid to Boards, Commissions, and Committees shall be made bi-annually 
in the second pay date of December and June for those members 
currently sitting on the Board, Commission, or Committee on that date. 
The amounts of the stipends are set by the Town Charter for the Town 
Council and by the current budget for all other Boards, Commissions and 
Committees.    

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

31



16 

 

6. Administrative Operational Policies and Procedures. 
 

6.1 Departmental Records and Reports.  Reports of the major activities 
of each Department shall be made to the Town Administrator each 
month, and an annual written report shall be filed with the 
Administrator within ten days of the end of the fiscal year.  Such 
reports shall be in proper form and of sufficient detail for proper control 
of departmental activities and for publication in the Annual Town 
Report. 

 
6.2 Preservation of Public Records.  Each Department Head shall be 

responsible for the preservation of all public records under the 
department’s jurisdiction and shall provide a system of filing and 
indexing of same.  No public records, reports, correspondence or other 
data shall be removed permanently, unless authorized by law or 
ordinance, or without the knowledge and approval of the Administrator. 
 

6.3 New Ordinances.  The Town Council approves new ordinances.  The 
Town Clerk, or designee, codifies each new ordinance and distributes 
copies of the new ordinance to appropriate departments, boards and 
commissions.  
 

6.4 Record Retention Policy.  In accordance with RSA 33-A:3, the Town 
will establish and maintain a Municipal Records Committee charged 
with governing the retention and disposition of municipal records.  See 
exhibit A for policy details. 
 

6.5 Cellular Phones in the Workplace.  The purpose of this policy is to  
       establish guidelines and administrative procedures for employees who 
       have been identified as needing cellular phones (both Town provided  
                 and reimbursed (via allowances) personal phones) during working  
                 hours and for other times as needed for the health, safety, welfare, or  
                 operational efficiency of the Town. See exhibit D for policy details. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

32



17 

 

AMENDMENTS 
 

 
Date    Section(s) Amended 
January 1, 1995  Section(s) 2 & 3 – Departments/Positions changes.  

June 26, 2002  Section 2 – minor changes to correspond with   
   department reorganization. 

    Section 3 – entire section replaced. 
    Section 4 – minor changes 
    Section 5 – minor changes to correspond with   

   department reorganization. 
 
January 12, 2005  Section 3 – minor changes to correspond with 
    Department reorganization. 

April 13, 2005  Section 5.4 

September 9, 2009  Section 5.5.2 – Increased Town Administrator’s  
   approval level to $15,000. 

    Minor housekeeping changes. 
 
September 8, 2010 Section 4.12 – Deleted “Appoint or remove police 

personnel as necessary, while make and enforce all 
necessary rules for the orderly running of the 
department.” 

 Section 4.15 – Added “...amending the district within 2 
years of the census”. 

 Minor housekeeping items. 
 
January 1, 2012 Changes to eliminate the Building Department and 

create the Code Enforcement Division under Public 
Works Department. 

 Minor housekeeping items. 
 
February 13, 2013 Section 3.6 Fire Department – addition of “Emergency 

Management” to first paragraph. 
 Section 4.5 Emergency Management Director – 

deletion of entire section.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

33



18 

 

AMENDMENTS, Continued 
 

 
Date    Section(s) Amended 
June 26, 2013 Section 3.1 removed Human Resource Coordinator, 
 Section 3.3 added Code Enforcement, and section 

3.7 removed Code Enforcement to correspond with 
Department reorganization. 

 Section 3.9 and section 4.10 removed Police 
Commission to correspond with the legislative 
abolishment of the commission. 

 Section 5.5.2 added contracts to correspond with 
Town Charter. 

 Minor housekeeping items. 
 
August 13, 2014 Section 5.5 to 5.6 reworded entire sections and 

increased department head approval level for 
purchases up to $3,000. 

 Section 5.9 added new section Record Retention 
Policy with new exhibit A 

 
 
September 24, 2014 Section 5.10 added new section Investment Policy 

with new exhibit B 
Section 5.11 added new section Fund Balance Policy 
with new exhibit C 

 
 
May 27, 2015 Section 2 removed departments Community 

Development  AND Recycling & Transfer  
 Section 3.3 removed Community Development 

Department 
Section 3.7 added division Recycling & Transfer AND 
Community Development 

 Section 3.10 removed Recycling and Transfer 
Department 

 
August 12, 2015 Section 4 – add:  Record Retention Committee and 

renumber section for alphabetical listing. 
Section 5 – add: Stipends paid to Boards, 
Commissions and Committees 

 
 
 
 
 

34



19 

 

AMENDMENTS, Continued 
 

 
Date    Section(s) Amended 
August 24, 2016 Section 5.3.3 – updated to add policy on Cooperative 

Purchasing Program 
 Section 5.5 – clarified Budget Development 
 Section 5.6 – updated Investment Policy exhibit B 

policy details to clarify IV Delegation of Authority 
Section 5.13 – new section to add policy on Cellular 
Phones in the Workplace 

 
  
August 9, 2017 
Section 5.7 Fund Balance Policy.  Remove “In accordance with Governmental Accounting 

Standards Board (GASB)”. 

  

1) Exhibit B Investment Policy Section II. Scope.  Last paragraph last sentence “This 

investment policy does not apply to the Town of Hooksett’s Trust Funds, Capital 

Reserves or Library Funds.”  The Library funds are held by the Library Trustees and not 

the Town Treasurer per RSA 202-A:23. 

 

Exhibit C Fund Balance Policy Section 4. Deficit Fund Balance.  Remove the entire section and 

replace with “The Town will follow RSA 32:11 Emergency 

expenditures and over expenditures for situations which may 

cause an over expenditure of the total appropriations in the 

Town’s General Fund.”  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

35



20 

 

Exhibit A 
 

Record Retention Policy 

Town of Hooksett New Hampshire 

2014 
 

SECTION I: PURPOSE: 

 

The purpose of this Records Retention Policy is to ensure compliance with all applicable State and Federal 

laws and regulations regarding record retention including, but not limited to those listed in RSA 33-A; 

while simultaneously recognizing the Town of Hooksett’s (hereby referred to as The Town) administrative 

need to manage its’ records and provide for their systematic destruction after all legal requirements have 

been satisfied and the record no longer has value to The Town or its’ constituents. 

 

SECTION II: AUTHORITY:  

 

This policy is adopted in accordance with the Town Charter and the governing laws of the State of New 

Hampshire: RSA 33-A (Appendix A). 

 

SECTION III: APPLICABILITY: 

 

This policy applies to all physical records generated in the course of The Towns’ operation, including 

original, traceable reproductions as recorded with the Town Clerk, and electronic records. 

 

SECTION IV: DEFINITIONS: 

MUNICIPAL RECORD – As used herein, shall refer to all municipal records, whether in paper, electronic 

or any other form, prepared or received by The Town in connection with the conduct of its’ official 

governmental function. A department that creates a record shall be considered the primary owner of that 

particular record as defined in RSA 33-A. 

 

SECTION V: MUNICIPAL RECORDS COMMITTEE: 

A. In accordance with RSA 33-A:3, The Town will establish and maintain a Municipal Records 

Committee charged with governing the retention and disposition of municipal records. Said 

Committee shall be comprised of the following: A member of Town Council or designee; Town 

Clerk; Tax Collector; Treasurer; Town Assessor, and representatives from each of the  following 

departments: 

1. Administration  

2. Community Development 

3. Police Department 

4. Public Works 

5. Recycling & Transfer 

6. Wastewater 

 

B. The Town has adopted a Town-wide Record Retention Schedule (Appendix B) detailing the initial 

maintenance, retention and disposal schedule for municipal records of The Town in accordance 

with RSA 33-A. To ensure that this Schedule is followed, the Committee shall: 

 

1. Monitor local, State and Federal laws affecting record retention, and; 

36



21 

 

2. Modify the Record Retention Schedule as necessary to ensure that it complies with 

Local, State and Federal laws and/or addresses the appropriate document and record 

categories for the Town. 

 

C. The Municipal Records Committee shall monitor compliance with (Section VI - Storage, 

Retention, and Disposal of Municipal Records) of this policy and, if necessary, develop additional 

operational procedures to ensure that records are properly stored and accessible. 

 

1. Any such additional procedures will be developed in a manner which takes into 

account the organizations’ operational capabilities. The Municipal Records 

Committee may elect to use electronic methods of document storage, where 

appropriate. 

 

2. Any such additional procedures and/or storage processes will be incorporated as an 

Appendix to this Policy and be periodically reviewed by the Committee in order to 

ensure their level of efficiency and adequacy. 

 

D. The Committee shall monitor compliance with (Section VI, C – Destruction of Municipal 

Records) of this policy and, if necessary, develop additional operational procedures to ensure that 

records are consistently disposed of in a proper manner. 

 

1. Any such procedures shall take into account: 

i. Statutory requirements. 

ii. The Towns’ operational capabilities. 

iii. That certain records contain sensitive and/or confidential information, and, 

as a result, must be destroyed, unless Section VII (Suspension of Record 

Disposal) applies, and eliminated with particular care. 

2. These destruction processes will be periodically reviewed in order to ensure their 

adequacy and level of efficiency. 

 

E. The Committee shall review, in February/March  of each year, the Record Retention Policy as a 

whole, including the Town-wide Record Retention Schedule (Appendix B) and recommend 

amendments as appropriate to comply with regulatory requirements and/or procedural changes. 

SECTION VI: STORAGE, RETENTION, AND DISPOSAL OF MUNICIPAL RECORDS: 

 

A. Minimum Storage Procedures: Each department shall store their archived records in a box or 

cabinet and provide the following information on the exterior of the storage device: the department 

name, box number, retention period, scheduled disposition date, authority granting or allowing the 

disposition, and a general description of the contents.  It is recommended a master list of each 

location and box contents be maintained by each department head. 

 

B. Retention of Municipal Records: The Town-wide Records Retention Schedule (Appendix B) 

details the retention period for specific types and categories of records in order to ensure legal 

compliance. In addition, this schedule is designed to accomplish other objectives such as the 

preservation of confidential and valuable administrative information, cost effectiveness, and space 

management. Scheduled records are those that, by Town, State and Federal Regulations, need only 

be retained for a stated period. 

 

37



22 

 

The Municipal Records Committee may determine that such records (i.e., grants from State, 

Federal or private agencies) are to be maintained by The Town for a period longer that the 

minimum required period. If so, such determination shall be made a matter of record by 

incorporation into the Town-Wide Records Retention Schedule. 

 

C. Destruction of Municipal Records:  

1. Documents to be destroyed shall first be reviewed by the applicable Department Head. If no 

reason exists to maintain the record beyond the retention schedule, the documents shall then 

be destroyed as follows: 

i. Non-Confidential Documents – shall be disposed of with other paper recycled products or 

shredded. 

ii. Confidential Documents – shall be shredded or burned. 

iii. Electronic Files – shall be deleted from the individuals’ computer as well as any backup 

or permanent media storage. 

 

2. Each Department Head is responsible for maintaining a Document Destruction Log which 

shall contain the following minimum information: 

i. Department destroying the record 

ii. What record was destroyed 

iii. The date the record was destroyed 

iv. Who destroyed the record 

v. RSA or authority giving the right to destroy the record 

 

D. Unauthorized Activities: All Municipal Records belong to The Public in perpetuity and shall not 

be destroyed, maliciously damaged, or retained by any person not entitled to do so by local, State 

and/or Federal regulations. 

SECTION VII: SUSPENSION OF RECORD DISPOSAL: 

 

In the event any official or employee of The Town is served with any subpoena or Right-to-Know request; 

or becomes aware of an investigation or audit concerning The Town or commencement of any litigation 

against or concerning The Town; such individual shall ensure that all records are preserved, regardless of 

Retention Schedule, until The Towns’ legal counsel determines that the records are no longer needed. 

 

SECTION VIII: ADOPTION:  
 

The Town of Hooksett has adopted this Record Retention Policy effective ____August 13__ 2014. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

38



23 

 

 
 
 
 
 

39



24 

 

 
 
 
 
 

40



25 

 

 
 
 
 
 

41



26 

 

Exhibit B 

Town of Hooksett 
35 Main Street 

Hooksett, NH  03106 

 

INVESTMENT POLICY 
 

 

I. PREFACE 
 
The investment policy establishes a framework for the safe and prudent investment of public 

funds.  While attempting to achieve the best possible results, an investment program must 

consider the safety and liquidity necessary to effectively meet the operational needs of the Town. 

 
It also provides guidance and direction for the Town Treasurer in the daily conduct of investing 

activity in addition to improving consistency, creating and defining accountability and in ensuring 

that laws are followed. 

 

 

II. SCOPE 
 
The investment policy applies to all financial assets in the custody of the Town Treasurer of the 

Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire.  These funds are accounted for in the Town's annual audited 

financial reports and include the following: 

 General Fund 

 Special Revenue Funds 

 Capital Project Funds 

 Proprietary Funds 

 Fiduciary Funds 

 Any new funds created by the Town, unless specifically exempted by the governing 

body, in accordance with law, or by-law. 

 
Furthermore, the investment policy applies to all transactions involving the financial assets and 

related activity of all the foregoing funds.  This investment policy does not apply to the Town of 

Hooksett Trust Funds, Capital Reserves or Library Funds.  The Library funds are held by the 

Library Trustees and not the Town Treasurer per RSA 202-A:23. 

 

 

III. OBJECTIVES 
 

The priority of investment objectives shall be safety, liquidity, and yield:  
 

1. Safety of principal is the foremost objective of the investment program. 

Investments shall be undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure the 

preservation of capital in the overall portfolio. The objective will be to 

mitigate credit risk and interest rate risk.  

 
42



27 

 

a) Credit Risk is the risk of loss due to the financial failure of the security issuer or 

backer. The Town will minimize credit risk by:  

 Limiting exposure to poor credits and concentrating the investments in the 

safest types of securities. 

 Pre-qualifying the financial institutions, broker/dealers, intermediaries, and 

advisers with which the Town will do business.  

 Diversifying the investment portfolio so that potential losses on individual 

securities will be minimized.  

 Actively monitoring the investment portfolio holdings for ratings changes, 

changing economic/market conditions, etc.  

 
b) Interest Rate Risk The Town will minimize the risk that the market value of 

securities in the portfolio will fall due to changes in general interest rates, by:  

 Structuring the investment portfolio so that securities mature to meet cash 

requirements for ongoing operations, thereby avoiding the need to sell 

securities on the open market prior to maturity.  

 Investing operating funds primarily in shorter-term securities or short-term 

investment pools.  

 
2. Liquidity The investment portfolio shall remain sufficiently liquid to meet all 

operating requirements that may be reasonably anticipated. This is accomplished 

by structuring the portfolio so that securities mature concurrent with cash needs to 

meet anticipated demands. Furthermore, since all possible cash demands cannot be 

anticipated, the portfolio should consist largely of securities with active secondary 

or resale markets.  

 
3. Yield  The investment portfolio shall be designed with the objective of attaining a 

market rate of return throughout budgetary and economic cycles, taking into 

account the investment risk constraints and liquidity needs. Return on investment is 

of secondary importance compared to the safety and liquidity objectives described 

above. The majority of the portfolio is limited to highly rated/low risk securities in 

anticipation of earning a fair return relative to the risk being assumed. Securities 

shall not be sold prior to maturity with the following exceptions:  
 

 A security with declining credit may be sold early to minimize loss of 

principal.  

 A security swap would improve the quality, yield, or target duration in the 

portfolio.  

 Liquidity needs of the portfolio require that the security be sold.  

 
4. Legality The investment portfolio shall remain in conformance with Federal, State 

and other legal requirements.  

 

 

IV. DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY 
 
The investment policy delegation of authority is stated below: 

 

43



28 

 

1. In accordance with RSA 41:29 VI, the responsibility for conducting investment 

transactions resides with the Town Treasurer.   The Town Treasurer may delegate 

authority, with the approval of Town Council.   

 

       RSA 41:29 VI – in addition to this state RSA language, the Town Council adds 

“and the Town Treasurer shall be for a specific term.” 

 

2.  No person may engage in an investment transaction except as provided under the 

terms of this policy and the internal procedures and controls hereby established. 

 

 

V.        PRUDENCE 

  
The investment policy will be conducted in accordance with the "prudent person" standard which 

requires that: 

 

     Investments shall be made with judgment and care, under           

     circumstances then prevailing, which persons of prudence, discretion  

     and intelligence exercise in the management of their own affairs, not  

     for speculation, but for investment, considering the probable safety of  

     their capital as well as the probable income to be derived. 

 

The Town Treasurer involved in the investment process shall refrain from personal business 

activity that could conflict (or appear to conflict) with proper execution of the investment 

program, or which could impair their ability to make impartial investment decisions. 

 

The Town Treasurer shall disclose to the Town Council any material financial interest in financial 

institutions that conduct business within this jurisdiction, and they shall further disclose any large 

personal financial/investment positions that could be related to the performance of this 

jurisdiction's portfolio. 

 

The Town Treasurer shall subordinate their personal investment transactions to those of this 

jurisdiction, particularly with regard to the timing of purchases and sales. 

 

 

VI. INVESTMENT INSTRUMENTS 
 
In accordance with RSA 41:29 II and IV funds of the Town of Hooksett may be invested in the 

following: 

 

1.  Deposits, including money market accounts or certificates of deposit, of federally 

insured banks chartered under the laws of New Hampshire or the federal government 

with a branch within the state; or funds may be deposited in federally insured banks 

outside the state if such banks pledge and deliver to a third party custodial bank or 

the federal reserve bank collateral security for such deposits of the following types: 

a.   United States government obligations; 

b.   United States government agency obligations; or 

c. Obligations of the state of New Hampshire in value at least equal to the 

amount of the deposit in each case. 

 

44



29 

 

2.  New Hampshire Public Deposit Investment Pool (NHPDIP) established pursuant to 

RSA 383:22. 

 

  

 

3. Obligations fully guaranteed as to principle and interest by the United States 

government.  The obligations may be held directly or in the form of securities of or 

other interests in any open-end or closed-end management-type investment company 

or investment trust registered under 15 U. S.C. section 80a-1 et seq., if the portfolio 

of the investment company or investment trust is limited to such obligations. 

 

4.  Other instruments as may be specifically authorized by amendments to the State Law. 

 

 

VII .    MATURITY AND DIVERSIFICATION  

 
Investment maturities for operating funds shall be scheduled to coincide with projected cash flow 

needs, taking into account large routine expenditures (school district remittances, payroll and 

accounts payable) as well as anticipated revenue inflows. However, the maturity characteristics of 

the portfolio should comply with the following schedule: 

 

 Total Portfolio 

Investments Maturing 

 Required Minimum Percentage 

of Total Portfolio 

 
180 Days or Under 

  

100% 

 
No more than 80% of the total investment portfolio shall be invested with any one financial 

institution. 

 
 

VIII.    COMPETITIVE SELECTION OF INVESTMENT INSTRUMENTS 
 
Competitive quotes shall be requested from qualified financial institutions for various options 

with regards to terms and instrument, and provided to the Finance Director.  The Town Treasurer 

will accept the quote(s) which provide(s) the highest rate of return, within the maturity required, 

and within the parameters of this policy, taking into consideration all associated costs, 

requirements and capabilities. 

 

 

IX. PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 
 
The Town shall require, from any institution in which investing activity is conducted, sufficient 

routine reports/documentation to enable an accurate evaluation to be made as to the results of the 

Town’s investment program as it relates to the Town’s stated objectives, guidelines and policies, 

and to assist in revealing areas for potential improvement. 

 

 

X.    SAFEKEEPING AND COLLATERALIZATION 
 

45



30 

 

In accordance with RSA 41:29 V, the Town Treasurer shall ensure that prior to acceptance of any 

moneys for deposit or investment, including repurchase agreements, the federally insured bank 

shall have such funds, at the time of deposit or investment, secured by collateral having a market 

value at least equal to 102% of the amount deposited or invested over the FDIC limits.  Such 

collateral shall be held by a third party custodian and segregated for the exclusive benefit of the 

Town.  Only securities defined by the bank commissioner as provided by rules adopted pursuant 

to RSA 386:57 shall be eligible to be pledged as collateral. 

 
The banking institution shall provide the Town Treasurer with at least monthly reports of the 

Town’s collateral position.  In addition, collateral agreements shall comply with provisions set 

forth in the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 (FIRREA), 

which require that the collateral agreement be: 

1. in writing; 

2. approved by the Board of Directors of the depository or its loan committee; 

3. has been, continuously, from the time of its execution, an official record of the depository 

institution. 

 
A Certificate of Insurance is not considered to be adequate collateralization. 

 

XI.      INTERNAL CONTROLS 

 
The internal controls for the Town of Hooksett shall be designed to prevent losses of public funds 

arising from fraud, employee error, misrepresentation by third parties, unanticipated changes in 

financial markets, imprudent actions by employees and officers of the Town. 

 
1. Indemnification:  In accordance with RSA 41:6 (Surety Bond Required). 

 

"Town Treasurers…Shall be bonded by position under a blanket bond from a surety 

company authorized to do business in this state.  The bond shall indemnify against 

losses through: 

 

(a) The failure of officers covered to faithfully perform their duties or to 

account properly for all moneys or property received by virtue of their 

positions, or 

 

(b) Fraudulent or dishonest acts committed by the covered officers." 

 

2. The Town Treasurer conducts investment transactions via written instructions 

including Internet and reviews the bank statements daily to ensure that the 

appropriate transactions were made per the instructions.  All bank balances will be 

reconciled monthly by the Town Treasurer and reported to the Finance Director on a 

monthly basis. 

 

3. The Finance Director, on a monthly basis, reviews and reconciles all bank account 

activity and records the investment transactions in the general ledger. 

 

XII. REPORTING 

 
The Town Treasurer shall submit quarterly to the Town Administrator an investment report that 

summarizes recent market conditions, economic development and anticipated investment 

46



31 

 

conditions.  The report shall summarize the investment strategies employed, and describe the 

portfolio in terms of investment securities, maturities, risk characteristics and other features.  The 

report shall explain the total investment return and compare the return with budgetary 

expectations.  The report shall include an appendix that discloses all transactions during the past 

quarter. 

XIII. OTHER 
 
This policy shall be reviewed at least annually by Town Council, or its designee, with changes 

made as warranted, followed by re-adoption by the governing body. 

 
The Town Council reserves the right to implement changes to this policy without prior notice if it 

is deemed in the Town's best interest. 

 

This policy is available for public review and inspection.  A copy may be obtained by contacting 

the Town Administrator. 

 

 

XIV. POLICY APPROVAL/AMENDMENTS 
 
The Council approved adoption of the Town of Hooksett Investment Policy at their October 12, 

2005 meeting. 

 
Town Council approved amendments of the Town of Hooksett Investment Policy at their 

September 9, 2009 meeting. 

 

Town Council approved amendments of the Town of Hooksett Investment Policy at their 

September 8, 2010 meeting. 

 
Town Council approved the Town of Hooksett Investment Policy at their September 14, 2011 

meeting. 

 

Town Council approved amendments of the Town of Hooksett Investment Policy at their October 

10, 2012 meeting. 

 

Town Council approved the Town of Hooksett Investment Policy at their September 25, 2013 

meeting. 

 

Town Council approved amendments of the Town of Hooksett Investment Policy at their 

September 24, 2014 meeting. 

 
        
 
 
 
 
 

47



32 

 

 
Exhibit C 

Town of Hooksett 
35 Main Street 

Hooksett, NH  03106 

 

FUND BALANCE POLICY 
 

 

SECTION 1. PURPOSE 

 
The Town hereby establishes and will maintain reservations of Fund Balance, as defined 

herein, in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 54, Fund 

Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Types Definitions.  This policy shall only apply to 

the Town’s governmental funds.  Fund balance shall be composed of nonspendable, restricted, 

committed, assigned and unassigned amounts. 

 

The general purpose of this policy is to improve the Town of Hooksett’s financial 

stability by protecting itself against emergencies and economic downturns. Unassigned fund 

balance is an important measure of economic stability. It is essential that the Town maintain 

adequate levels of unassigned fund balance to mitigate financial risk that can occur from 

unforeseen revenue fluctuations, unanticipated expenditures, and similar circumstances. The fund 

balance also provides cash flow liquidity for the Town’s general operations. 

 

SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS 

 
2.1)  Nonspendable Fund Balance - includes amounts that are not in a spendable form 

(such as inventory, tax deeded property subject to resale or prepaid expenses) or are required to 

be maintained intact (such a principal of an endowment fund). 

 

2.2)  Restricted Fund Balance – includes amounts that can be spent only for the specific 

purposes stipulated by external resource providers (such as grantors) or laws or regulations of 

other governments or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or through enabling 

legislation (the annual Town meeting). Restrictions may be changed or lifted only with the 

consent of the resource providers or the enabling legislation.  Non-lapsing warrant articles, 

library, income portion of permanent funds and Capital Project funds would be considered 

restricted. 

 

2.3) Committed Fund Balance – includes amounts that can be used only for the specific 

purposes determined by a formal action of the Town’s highest level of decision making authority 

(Town Council).  Commitments may be changed or lifted only by the Town Council taking the 

same formal action that imposed the constraint originally. The Town Council’s actions must 

either be approved or rescinded, as applicable, prior to the last day of the fiscal year for which the 

commitment is made.  The amount subject to the constraint may be determined in the subsequent 

period.  This classification also includes contractual obligations to the extent that existing 

resources have been specifically committed for use in satisfying those contractual obligations.  

48



33 

 

Expendable trust funds and legislative body votes relative to the use of unassigned fund balance 

at year-end are included in this classification. 

 
2.4) Assigned Fund Balance – includes amounts the Town intends to be used for 

specific purposes.   For all governmental funds other than the General Fund, any remaining 

positive amounts are to be classified as “assigned”.  The Town Council expressly delegates this 

authority to the Town Administrator.  Items that would fall under this type of fund balance would 

be Police and Fire Detals, Ambulance Fund and Conservation Fund etc.  The Town also has 

assigned funds consisting of encumbrances in the general fund at year-end. 

 

2.5) Unassigned Fund Balance – is the residual classification of the general fund and 

includes all amounts not contained in other classifications.  Unassigned amounts are technically 

available for any purpose.  Any deficit fund balance of another governmental fund is also 

classified as unassigned. 

 

SECTION 3. SPENDING PRIORITIZATOINS 

 
3.1) When expenditures are incurred for purposes for which both restricted and 

unrestricted fund balance is available, restricted fund balance is considered to have been spent 

first. 

 

3.2) When expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of the 

unrestricted fund balance classification can be used, committed amount should be reduced first, 

followed by assigned amounts and then unassigned amounts. 

 
SECTION 4. DEFICIT FUND BALANCE 

 
The Town will follow RSA 32:11 Emergency expenditures and over expenditures for 

situations which may cause an over expenditure of the total appropriations in the Town’s General 

Fund. 

 
SECTION 5. UNASSIGNED FUND BALANCE  – GENERAL FUND 

 
As recommend by the New Hampshire Department of Revenue, the Town shall strive to 

maintain an unassigned fund balance in its General Fund equal to 8-17% of the total annual 

appropriations of the community (which includes the Town, County, School District and 

Precincts).   

 

5.1) Minimum Balance – The Town shall maintain a minimum unassigned fund balance 

of 5% of the general fund’s annual appropriations of the community. 

 

5.2) Target Balance - The Town shall work toward maintaining an unassigned fund 

balance of 8% of the general fund’s annual budget, including Town, School and County 

appropriations.   

 

 

 

49



34 

 

SECTION 6.   ANNUAL REVIEW 

 
Town Council shall review and approve this policy annually.   

 
 

SECTION 7.  POLICY APPROVAL/AMENDMENTS 

 
Town Council approved adoption of the Town of Hooksett’s Fund Balance policy at their 

May 13, 2009 meeting. 

 

Town Council amended the Town of Hooksett’s Fund Balance policy at their September 

14, 2011 meeting. 

 

Town Council amended the Town of Hooksett’s Fund Balance policy at their October 10, 

2012 meeting. 

 

 Town Council amended the Town of Hooksett’s Fund Balance policy at their September 

25, 2013 meeting. 

 

 Town Council amended the Town of Hooksett’s Fund Balance policy at their September 

24, 2014 meeting. 

     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

50



35 

 

Exhibit D 

Town of Hooksett 
35 Main Street 

Hooksett, NH  03106 

POLICY:  

CELLULAR PHONES IN THE WORKPLACE  
 

SECTION I: PURPOSE  
The purpose of this policy is to establish guidelines and administrative procedures for 

employees who have been identified as needing cellular phones (both Town provided and 

reimbursed (via allowances) personal phones) during working hours and for other times as 

needed for the health, safety, welfare, or operational efficiency of the Town.  

 

SECTION II: POLICY  
It is the policy of the Town that if an employee’s job duties require them to be readily 

accessible for frequent contact or critical contact with the Town staff or public, and the 

accessibility extends to time away from work or involves on-call responsibilities, then the 

eligible employee may have a choice to either use a Town-issued cellular phone, or provide 

their own cellular phone for which they will be compensated for business use pursuant to this 

Policy. The Town shall have the discretion to determine who is eligible as well as the service 

plan and features that will be provided, required, or otherwise reimbursed via allowances.  

 

SECTION III: ELIGIBILITY  
Employees whose job duties include the frequent need for a cellular phone may be provided a 

town issued cellular phone or, in lieu thereof, use their own personal cellular phone and 

receive a reimbursement allowance for business-related costs. Department heads may 

identify employees who hold positions that include the need for a cellular phone. The Town 

Administrator shall have final approval on all such determinations. Generally, an employee is 

eligible for a town issued cellular phone or a reimbursement allowance for using a personal 

cellular phone if at least one (1) of the following criteria are met:  

 

1) The job function of the employee requires considerable time outside of his/her assigned 

office or work area and it is important to the Town that she/he is accessible during those 

times; or  

2) The job function of the employee requires him/her to be accessible outside of scheduled or 

normal working hours where time sensitive decisions/ notifications are required.  

 

If an employee is eligible for a town issued cellular phone or a reimbursement allowance for 

a personal cellular phone based on satisfaction of at least one of the above criteria, then if the 

employee also needs data access for health, safety, welfare or operational efficiency 

concerns, their town issued cellular phone or reimbursement allowance shall provide data 

access or provide for a data plan.  

 

SECTION IV: LIMITATIONS ON TOWN PROVIDED CELLULAR PHONES  
A. Personal Use: Occasional brief personal use is allowable; however, employees should 

always use their own personal cellular phones for personal use, if possible.  

51



36 

 

B. Text Messaging: Shall be limited whenever possible, unless the cellular phone has a 

service plan that provides for unlimited messaging or a messaging allowance and in either 

case, is approved for such use by the employee’s department head.  

C. Internet Access: Employees should use discretion when using their cellular phone to not 

access websites that would be in violation of the Town’s Computer Use Policy found in the 

Personnel Plan. D. Directory Assistance: Employees should avoid using cellular directory 

assistance so as to avoid additional charges.  

E. Reimbursement to the Town for Personal Use: If an employee’s personal use of the 

Town’s cellular phone results in an unreasonable charge to the Town, the user will be 

responsible for reimbursing the Town. This includes charges for text messaging, long 

distance and/or roaming charges, overage charges, multi-media charges, and charges for 

directory assistance.  

F. Data Downloads: Employees should attempt to download data in wi-fi networks so as to 

minimize costs.  

G. Any cellular phone that has data capabilities must be secured based on current security 

standards including password protection and encryption. If a cellular phone with data 

capabilities is stolen or missing, it must be reported to the employee's supervisor, the service 

provider, and to the Administration or IT Contactor as soon as possible.  

H. Misuse: Use of the cellular phone in any manner contrary to local, state, or federal laws 

will constitute misuse, and may result in disciplinary action up to and including immediate 

termination.  

I. No expectation of privacy: Town issued cellular phones shall remain the sole property of 

the Town and shall be subject to inspection or monitoring at any time. Employees who are 

issued town cellular phones must understand that there is no expectation of privacy when 

using such phones. The Town has the right to review all records related to Town issued 

cellular phones, including but not limited to phone logs, text messages, and internet usage 

logs. Users should further be aware that such records may be subject to discovery under RSA 

Chapter 91-A (aka, the “Right to Know” law).  

J. Upon resignation or termination of employment, or at any time upon request, the employee 

will produce the device for return and inspection. Employees unable to present the device in 

good working condition will be expected to bear the cost of a replacement.  

 

SECTION V: REIMBURSEMENT ALLOWANCES FOR PERSONAL CELLULAR 

PHONES  
A. Allowance Amount: The amount shall be $11.53 per week for cellular phones utilizing an 

unlimited data plan, e-mail, texting and internet access features. No further reimbursement 

for cellular phones is available to employees who receive an allowance.  

B. The allowance is neither permanent nor guaranteed. The Town reserves the right to 
remove a participant from this plan or cancel the allowance for business reasons.  

C. To receive the allowance, a “Personal Action Form” must be completed (see Appendix A).  

D. Allowance Payment: The approved cellular phone reimbursement allowance will be paid 
to the employee each week in the employee’s paycheck.  

52



37 

 

E. The employee is responsible for purchasing the cellular phone and establishing and 

maintaining a service contract with the cellular phone service provider of his/her choice. The 

cellular phone contract shall be in the name of the employee, who shall be solely responsible 

for all payments to the service provider. If the employee terminates the cellular phone 
contract at any point, s/he must notify his/her supervisor within five (5) business days.  

F. Because the cellular phone is owned personally by the employee, the reimbursement 

allowance is not considered taxable income and the employee may use the cellular phone for 

both business and personal purposes, as needed. The employee may, at his or her own 

expense, add extra services or equipment features, as desired. If there are problems with 

service, the employee is expected to work directly with the service provider for resolution.  

 

SECTION VI: LIMITATIONS ON PERSONAL CELLULAR PHONES  
A. For a personal cellular phone approved for a reimbursement allowance under this policy, 

support from the Town’s IT Contactor is limited to connecting the cellular phone to Town-

provided services, such as e-mail, calendar, and contacts.  

B. The Town does not accept any liability for claims, charges or disputes between the service 

provider and the employee. Use of the cellular phone in any manner contrary to local, state, 

or federal laws will constitute misuse, and may result in disciplinary action up to and 

including immediate termination if misused in furtherance of Town business, and then, 
depending on the nature of the misuse.  

C. Any cellular phone that has data capabilities must be secured based on current security 

standards including password protection and encryption. If a cellular phone with data 

capabilities is stolen or missing, it must be reported to the employee's supervisor, the service 

provider, and to the IT Director as soon as possible.  

 
D. Employees are expected to delete all Town data from the cellular phone when their 

employment with the Town is severed, except when legally required to maintain that data 

(e.g., litigation).  

E. Note: Unlike Town provided cellular phones, users of personal cellular phones have an 

expectation of privacy and accordingly, if the Town desires to review the employee’s cellular 

phone records, it will first obtain a search warrant or subpoena the relevant records pursuant 

to RSA Chapter 91-A (aka, the “Right to Know” law).  

 

SECTION VII: EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITIES  
A. Excessive use of cellular phones during the work day for personal use can interfere with 

employee productivity and be distracting to others. During paid work time, employees are 

expected to exercise the same discretion in using cellular phones as is expected for the use of 

any town telephone or computer. Cellular phones may not be used at any work site where the 

operation of the phone would create an unreasonable distraction to the public or other 

employees.  

B. Employees are expected to make personal communications on non-work time, when 

possible. However, it is understood that occasional personal communications of short 

duration may be accomplished without disrupting others and without having an adverse effect 

on one’s job performance. Personal calls, incoming and outgoing, must be kept to a minimum 

and must be incidental to business use. Employees should use good judgment when making 

personal communications and should recognize that the Town incurs costs for each minute of 

53



38 

 

air time on Town issued phones. Abuse of personal communications privileges may subject 

the employee to discipline.  

C. In order to ensure a productive work day, the following uses of any cellular phone are 

prohibited during working hours:  

1) Accessing the internet for non-work related purposes;  

2) Playing games;  

3) Watching movies, television, sports, etc.; and  

4) Any activity that violates town policy.  

D. Employees in possession of Town issued cellular phones are expected to protect them 

from loss, damage, or theft.  

 

SECTION VIII: SAFETY IN USING CELLULAR PHONES  
A. This section applies to all use of Town provided cellular phones, and to all use of personal 

cellular phones when used for Town business.  

B. If use of their cellular phone is unavoidable, employees shall use hands-free options, 

abiding by applicable state laws. During hands-free operation, employees are expected to 

keep the usage to a minimum, refrain from discussions of complicated or emotional issues, 

and keep their eyes on the road. Special care should be taken in situations where there is 

heavy traffic, inclement weather or where the employee is driving in an unfamiliar area. 

Under no circumstances are employees allowed to place themselves at risk to fulfill business 

needs.  

 
C. With the exception of extraordinary circumstances, operators of authorized emergency 

vehicles are to comply with this Policy while driving.  

D. Engaging in text or email communications, or accessing the internet while driving is not 

allowable under any circumstance. Note: safely pull over to the side of the road before setting 

a destination and selecting a route for GPS-related applications.  

E. Employees who are charged with traffic violations resulting from the use of cellular 

phones while driving on duty may be subject to disciplinary action.  

F. Employees who are charged with traffic violations resulting from the use of their cellular 

phone while driving will be solely responsible for all liabilities that result from such actions.  

G. Violations of this Policy will be subject to discipline, up to and including dismissal.  

 

SECTION IX: WAIVERS  
The Town Administrator or Town Council may waive any portion of this policy for good 

cause shown.  

 

SECTION X: AMENDMENTS  
This policy may from time to time be amended by the vote of Town Council at a regularly 

scheduled meeting.  

 

SECTION XI: EFFECTIVE DATE  
This policy shall be effective 08/24/16 as per vote of the Town Council.  

 
54



 

 

 

Town of Hooksett 
35 Main Street 

Hooksett, NH  03106 

 

POST-ISSUANCE TAX COMPLIANCE POLICY AND PROCEDURES FOR  

TAX-EXEMPT OBLIGATIONS 

 

SECTION I: PURPOSE 

 

The purpose of this Tax-Exempt Obligation Post Issuance Compliance Policy and Procedures is 

to establish policies and procedures in connection with tax-exempt bonds and notes (the “Bond” 

or “Bonds”) issued by the Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire (the “Issuer”) so as to maximize 

the likelihood that all applicable post-issuance requirements of federal income tax law needed to 

preserve the tax-exempt status of the Bonds are met. 

 

SECTION II: COMPLIANCE COORIDATOR 

 

A. The Finance Director shall serve as the Compliance Coordinator (“Coordinator”) and be 

responsible for monitoring post-issuance compliance.   

B. The Coordinator will maintain a copy of the transcript of proceedings in connections with 

the issuance of any tax-exempt obligations.  The Coordinator will obtain such records as 

are necessary to meet the requirements of this policy. 

C. The Coordinator shall consult with bond counsel, a rebate consultant, financial advisors, 

Internal Revenue Services (“IRS”) publications and other resources as are necessary to 

understand and meet the requirements of this policy. 

D. Training and education of the Coordinator and his/her staff will be sought and 

implemented upon the occurrence of new developments and upon the hiring of new 

personnel to implement this policy. 

 

SECTION III: RECORD-KEEPING  

 

A. Financing Transcripts – The Coordinator shall confirm the proper filing with the IRS of an 

8038 Series return, and maintain a transcript of proceedings for all tax-exempt obligations 

issued by the Issuer, including but not limited to all tax-exempt bonds, notes and lease-

purchase contracts.  Each transcript shall be maintained for as long as the Bonds are 

outstanding, plus three (3) years after the final redemption date of the Bonds.  Said 

transcript may be maintained in electronic format and shall include at a minimum:  

1.   Form 8038s; 

2.   Minutes, resolutions, and certificates; 

3.   Certifications of issue price from the underwriter, if applicable; 

4.   Formal elections required by the IRS; 

5.   Trustee statements, if applicable; 

6.   Records of refunded bonds, if applicable; 

7.   Correspondence relating to bond financing; 

8.   Reports of any IRS examinations for bond financing; 

   9. Documents related to governmental grants associated with construction, 

renovation, or purchase of bond financed facilities, if applicable; 

10. Publications, brochures, and newspaper articles, where applicable. 
55



 

 

B. Modification to Financing Documents – The Coordinator shall determine if there is any 

“significant modification” to bond documents resulting in reissuance under Treasury 

Regulation §1.1001-3, in consultation with bond counsel and any other legal counsel and 

financial advisor.  The Coordinator shall retain proof of filing new Form 8038 and 

relevant documentation plus final rebate calculation on pre-modification bonds. 

 

SECTION IV: PROPER USE OF PROCEEDS 

 

A. The Coordinator shall review the resolution authorizing issuance for each tax-exempt 

obligation issued by the Issuer and shall: 

1. Obtain a computation of the yield on such issue from the Issuer’s financial 

advisor; 

2. Create a separate Project Fund (with as many sub-funds as shall be necessary 

to allocate proceeds among the projects being funded by the issue) and a 

separate Cost of Issuance Fund as necessary to allocate proceeds to Bond 

issuance costs into which the proceeds of the issue shall be deposited, as 

applicable; 

3. Review all requisitions, draw schedules, draw requests, invoices and bills 

requesting payment form the Project Fund; 

4. Determine whether payment from the Project Fund is appropriate, and if so, 

make payment from the Project Fund (and appropriate sub-fund if applicable); 

5. Maintain records of the payment requests and corresponding records showing 

payments; 

6. Maintain records showing the earnings on, and investment of, the Project 

Fund; 

7. Ensure that all investments acquired with proceeds are purchased at fair market 

value; 

8. Identify bond proceeds or applicable debt service allocations that must be 

invested with a yield-restriction and monitor the investments of any yield-

restricted funds to ensure that the yield on such investments does not exceed 

the yield to which such investments are restricted; 

9. Maintain records related to any investment contracts, credit enhancement 

transactions, and the bidding of financial products related to the proceeds; 

10. Monitor and maintain records of the reimbursement of costs previously 

expended by the Issuer to ensure that such reimbursement occurs not more than 

18 months after the later of (i) the dates of the expenditures or (ii) the date the 

project/asset was place in service (but not more than 3 years after the original 

expenditures were paid) except with respect to those expenditures for which 

the Issuer obtained a certificate of licensed engineer/architect to the effect that 

(I) at least five (5) years were necessary to complete the construction of the 

part of the project for which such expenditures were required; and (II) such 

expenditures shall be reimbursed not more than five (5) years after the date that 

the original expenditures were paid.  

 

SECTION V: ARBITRAGE/REBATE COMPLIANCE AND TIMELY EXPENDITURE 

OF PROCEEDS 

 

A. The Coordinator shall review the No Arbitrate and Tax Certificate (or equivalent) (the 

“Certificate”) for each tax-exempt obligation issued by the Issuer and the expenditure 56



 

 

records provided in Section III of this policy, above, and shall ensure that the Issuer takes 

the following actions: 

1. Monitor and ensure that proceeds of each such issue are spent within the 

temporary period set forth in the Certificate; 

2. If at the time of issuance, it appears that the Bonds will qualify for the small 

issuer exception to the rebate requirement, the Coordinator will monitor the 

amount of subsequent tax-exempt obligations issued or proposed to be issued 

in the calendar year in which the Bonds closed to ensure that the Issuer does 

not exceed the $5 million or $15 million threshold, as applicable, in such 

calendar year; 

3. If at the time of issuance, based on reasonable expectations set forth in the 

Certificate, it appears likely that the issue will qualify for an exemption from 

the rebate requirement, the Issuer may defer taking any of the actions set forth 

in subsection (4) below.  Not later than the time of completion of construction 

or acquisition of the project, and depletion of all funds from the Project Fund, 

the Issuer shall make a determination if the expenditure of the Bond proceeds 

qualified for an exemption from the rebate requirements based on spending 

within a 6 month, 18 month or 2 year period after issuance.  If a rebate 

exemption is determined to be applicable, the Issuer shall prepare and keep in 

the permanent records of the issue a memorandum evidencing this conclusion 

together with records of expenditure to support such conclusion.  If the 

transaction does not qualify for rebate exemption, the Issuer shall initiate the 

steps set forth in (4) below; 

4. If at the time of issuance it appears likely that arbitrage rebate calculations will 

be required, or upon determination that calculations are required pursuant to 

(3) above, the Issuer shall: 

a. Engage the service of expert advisors (each a “Rebate Service 

Provider”) to assist in the calculation of arbitrage rebate payable in 

respect of the investment of Bond proceeds, or else shall ensure that it 

has adequate financial, accounting and legal resources of its own to 

make such calculations, and prior to each rebate calculation date, cause 

the trustee or other financial institution investing bond proceeds to 

deliver periodic statements concerning the investment of Bond 

proceeds to the Rebate Service Provider; 

b. Provide to the Rebate Service Provider additional documents and 

information reasonable requested by the Rebate Service Provider; 

c. Monitor efforts of the Rebate Service Provider; 

d. Assure payment of required rebate amounts, if any, no later than 60 

days after each 5-year anniversary of the issue date of the Bonds, and 

no later than 60 days after the last Bond of each issue is redeemed. 

e. During the construction period of each capital project financed in whole 

or in part by Bonds, monitor the investment and expenditure of Bond 

proceeds and consult with the Rebate Service Provider to determine 

compliance with any applicable exceptions from the arbitrage rebate 

requirements during each 6-month spending period up to 6 months, 18 

months or 2 years, as applicable, following the issue date of the Bonds. 

f. Retain copies of all arbitrage reports, trustee statements and other 

documents as required herein; 

57



 

 

g. In lieu of engaging an outside Rebate Service Provider, the Issuer may 

make a determination that it has sufficient capabilities using its own 

personnel, supported by its regular accounting and legal advisers, to be 

able to make the required rebate calculations.  Such determination shall 

be evidenced in writing with specific reference to the personnel and 

advisers to carry out the calculations, and such written determination 

shall be maintained in the records of the bond transaction. 

  

SECTION VI: PROPER USE OF BOND FINANCED ASSETS 

 

A. The Coordinator shall maintain appropriate records and a list of all bond financed assets.  

Such records shall include the actual amount of the proceeds (including investment 

earnings) spent on each of the bond financed assets. 

B. With respect to each bond financed asset, the Coordinator will monitor and confer with 

bond counsel with respects to all proposed: 

1. Management contracts; 

2. Service agreements; 

3. Research contracts; 

4. Naming rights contracts; 

5. Lease or sub-leases; 

6. Joint venture, limited liability or partnership arrangements; 

7. Sale of property or; 

8. Any other change in use of such asset. 

C. Section 141 of the Code sets forth private activity tests for the purpose of limiting the 

volume of tax-exempt bonds that finance activities of persons other than state and local 

governmental entities.  These tests serve to identify arrangements that actually or 

reasonably expect to transfer the benefits of tax-exempt financing to non-governmental 

persons, including the federal government.  The Coordinator shall provide to the users of 

any bond financed property a copy of this Compliance Policy and other appropriate 

written guidance advising that: 

1. “Private business use” means use by any person other than the Issuer, including 

business corporations, partnerships, limited liability companies, associations, non-

profits corporations, natural persons engaged in trade or business activity, and the 

United States of America and any federal agency, as a result of ownership of the 

property or use of the property under a lease, management or service contract (except 

for certain “qualified” management or service contracts), “naming rights” contract, 

“public-private partnership” arrangement, or any similar use arrangement that provides 

special legal entitlements for the use of the bond financed property; 

2. No more than 10% of the proceeds of any tax-exempt bond issued (including the 

property financed with the Bonds) may be used for private business use, of which no 

more than 5% of the proceeds of the tax-exempt bond issued (including the property 

financed with the bonds) may be used for any “unrelated” private business use - that 

is, generally, a private business use that is not functionally related to the government’s 

purposes of the Bonds; and no more than the lesser of $5,000,000 or 5% of the 

proceeds of a tax-exempt bond issued may be used to make or finance a loan to any 

person other than a state or local government unit; 

3. Before entering into a special use arrangement with a non-governmental person that 

involves the use of bond financed property, the Coordinator will consult with bond 

counsel, provide bond counsel with a description of the proposed non-governmental 58



 

 

use arrangement, and determine whether that use arrangement, if put into effect, will 

be consistent with the restrictions on private business use of the bond financed 

property; 

4. In connection with the evaluation of any proposed non-governmental use arrangement, 

the Issuer will consult with bond counsel to obtain federal tax advice in whether that 

use arrangement, if put into effect, will be consistent with the restrictions on private 

business use of the bond financed property, and if not, whether any “remedial action” 

permitting under §141 of the Code may be taken as means of enabling that use 

arrangement to be put into effect without adversely affecting the tax-exempt status of 

the Bonds. 

D. The Coordinator shall maintain a copy of any such proposed agreement, contract, lease or 

arrangement, together with the response by bond counsel with respect to said proposal for 

at least three (3) years after retirement of all tax-exempt obligations issued to fund all or 

any portion of bond financed assets.   

E. The Coordinator shall consult with bond counsel and other legal counsel and advisers in 

the review of any change in use of bond-financed or refinanced assets to ensure 

compliance with all covenants and restriction set forth in the Certificate. 

F. The Coordinator shall confer at least annually with other personnel responsible for bond-

financed or refinanced assets, to identify and discuss any existing or planned use of bond-

financed or refinanced assets, to ensure that those uses are consistent with all covenants 

and restrictions set forth in the Certificate. 

G. To the extent that the Coordinator discovers that any applicable tax restrictions regarding 

use of bond proceeds and bond-financed or refinanced assets will or may be violated, the 

Coordinator shall consult promptly with bond counsel and other legal counsel and advisers 

to determine a course of action to remediate all nonqualified bonds, if such counsel 

advises that a remedial action is necessary. 

  

SECTION VII: BANK QUALIFICATION 

 

If the Bonds are issued in a par amount of $10 million or less and designated by the Issuer as 

“bank qualified” under Section 265(b)(3) of the Code, the Coordinator will monitor the amount of 

subsequent tax-exempt obligations issued or proposed to be issued in the calendar year in which 

the Bonds closed to ensure that the Issuer does not exceed the $10 million threshold in such 

calendar year. 

 

SECTION VIII: GENERAL PROJECT RECORDS  

 

A. For each project financed with tax-exempt obligations, the Coordinator shall maintain a 

copy of all material documents relating to capital expenditures financed or refinanced by 

tax-exempt proceeds, until three (3) years after retirement of the tax-exempt obligations or 

obligations issued to refund those obligations including (without limitation), the 

following: 

1. Appraisals, demand surveys or feasibility studies; 

2. Applications, approvals and other documentation of grants; 

3. Depreciation schedules; 

4. Contracts respecting the project, including construction contracts; 

5. Purchase order; 

6. Invoices, 

7. Trustee requisitions and payment records; 59



 

 

8. Documents relating to costs reimbursed with Bond proceeds; 

9. Records identifying the assets or portion of assets that are financed or refinanced with 

Bond proceeds, including a final allocation of proceeds. 

 

SECTION IX: ADVANCE REFUNDINGS 

  

A. The Coordinator, shall be responsible for the following current, post issuance and record 

retention procedures with respect to advance refunding bonds: 

1. Identify and select bonds to be advance refunded and advice from internal financial 

personnel, and a financial advisor. 

2. The Coordinator shall identify, with advice from the financial advisor and bond 

counsel, any possible federal tax compliance issues prior to structuring any advance 

refunding. 

3. The Coordinator shall review the structure with the input of the financial advisor and 

bond counsel, of advance refunding issues prior to the issuance to ensure: 

a. That the proposed refunding is permitted pursuant to applicable federal tax 

requirements if there has been a prior refunding of the original bond issues; 

b. That the proposed issuance complies with federal income tax requirements which 

might impose restrictions on the redemption date of the refunded bonds; 

c. That the proposed issuance complies with federal income tax requirements which 

allows for the proceeds and replacement proceeds of an issue to be invested 

temporarily in higher yielding investments without causing the advance refunding 

bonds to become “arbitrage bonds”; 

d. That the proposed issuance will not result in the issuer’s exploitation of the 

difference between tax exempt and taxable interest rates to obtain a financial 

advantage nor overburden the tax exempt market in a way that might be 

considered an abusive transaction for federal tax purposes; 

e. That the proposed refunding complies with applicable State law. 

4. The Coordinator shall collect and review data related to arbitrage yield restriction and 

rebate requirements for advance refunding bonds.  To ensure such compliance, the 

Coordinator shall engage a rebate consultant to prepare a verification report in 

connection with the advance refunding issuance.  Said report shall ensure said 

requirements are satisfied. 

5. The Coordinator shall, whenever possible, purchases SLGS to size each advance 

refunding escrow.  The financial advisor and/or bond counsel shall be included in the 

process of subscribing SLGS.  To the extent SLGS are not available for purchase, the 

Coordinator shall, in consultation with bond counsel and the financial advisor, comply 

with IRS regulations. 

6. To the extent the Issuer elects to purchase a guaranteed investment contract, the 

Coordinator shall ensure, after input from bond counsel, compliance with any bidding 

requirements set forth by the IRS regulations. 

7. In determining the issue price for any advance refunding issuance, the Coordinator 

shall obtain and retain issue price certification by the purchasing underwriter at 

closing. 

8. After the issuance of an advance refunding issue, the Coordinator shall ensure timely 

identification of violations of any federal tax requirements and engage bond counsel in 

attempt to remediate same in accordance with IRS regulations. 

 

SECTION X: CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 60



 

 

A. The Coordinator shall assure compliance with each continuing disclosure certificate and 

annually, per continuing disclosure agreements, file audited annual financial statements 

and other information required by each continuing disclosure agreement.  The Coordinator 

will monitor material events as described in each continuing disclosure agreement and 

assure compliance with material event disclosure.  Events to be reported shall be reported 

promptly, but in no event not later than ten (10) Business Days after the day of the 

occurrence of the event.  Currently, such notice shall be given in the event of: 

1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

2. Non-payment related defaults, if material; 

3. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 

4. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements relating to the bonds reflecting financial 

difficulties; 

5. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

6. Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or 

final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or 

other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax-exempt status of the 

bonds, or material events affecting the tax-exempt status of the bonds; 

7. Modifications to rights of Holders of the Bonds, if material; 

8. Bond calls (excluding sinking fund mandatory redemptions), if material, and tender 

offers; 

9. Defeasances of bonds; 

10. Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the bonds, if material; 

11. Rating changes on the bonds; 

12. Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Issuer; 

13. The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the Issuer or 

the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer, other than in the ordinary 

course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or 

the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than 

pursuant to its terms, if material; 

14. Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if 

material. 

 

SECTION XI: DUE DILIGENCE AND REMEDIAL ACTIONS 

 

In all activities related to the Issuer’s Bonds, the Coordinator and his/her staff will exercise due 

diligence to comply with the Code provisions governing tax-exempt obligations.  The Issuer is 

aware of (a) the Voluntary Closing Agreement Program (known as “VCAP”) operated by the IRS 

which allows issuers to voluntarily enter into a closing agreement in the event of certain non-

compliance with the Federal tax requirements and (b) the remedial actions available under 

Section 1.141-12 of the Income Tax Regulations for private use of bond financed property which 

was not expected at the time the Bonds were issued. 

 

SECTION XII: PERIODIC REVIEW 

 

The Issuer will monitor compliance with the guidelines contained in this policy as well as any 

other covenants not specifically included herein and will review and update these guidelines at 

least annually and whenever necessary due to changes in the law and circumstances. 

 

  61



Staff Report
Title:  Town Council Reassignments

Date: 6/28/2018
Background Discussion of Issues
Every new fiscal year, Council votes to determine which members will serve as the council representative for various 
boards and committees throughout the town. Below is the list as it stood last year until May, 2018: 

Board of Assessors – Ross, Tsantoulis, Giotas Alternate – Walczyk 
Budget – Miville Alternate Winterton 
Conservation Commission – Ross Alternate Duhaime 
Economic Development Advisory Committee – Miville Alternate Winterton
Heritage – Sullivan, Giotas
THPC – Sullivan, Giotas 
Hooksett Youth Achiever - Winterton, Walczyk, Tsantoulis 
Parks and Recreations Advisory Committee - Duhaime 
Transfer & Recycling – Levesque Alternate Giotas 
Planning Board – Winterton  Alternate Duhaime 
Sewer – Winterton 
ZBA – Levesque 
Union Negotiations  - Winterton / Duhaime 
Perambulation  - Duhaime 
Cable TV Franchise - None 
Record Retention Committee – Ross 
SNHU Relations Sub-Committee – Walczyk, Winterton
TIF – Winterton

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
Determine this year’s council representative assignments.

Fiscal Impact

Prepared By: Nick Germain, Project Coordinator 
Town Administrator’s Recommendation
Concur

62



TC Minutes 062018-U 1

TOWN COUNCIL MINUTES - UNOFFICIAL1
Regular Meeting2

Wednesday, June 20, 20183
6:00 PM4

Council Chambers5
6
7

1.    CALL TO ORDER8
9

Chairman James Sullivan called the meeting to order at 6:06 p.m.10
11

2.    PROOF OF POSTING12
13

Dr. Dean Shankle, Town Administrator, provided prof of posting.14
15

3.    ROLL CALL #116
17

In attendance:  Councilor Donald Winterton, Councilor John Giotas, Councilor Timothy 18
Tsantoulis, Councilor James Levesque, Councilor Robert Duhaime, Councilor David Ross, 19
and Chairman James Sullivan.20

21
Absent:  Councilor Alex Walczyk, Councilor John Durand22

23
4.    PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE24

25
Following the pledge, Chairman Sullivan called a moment of silence on the passing of Roger 26
Bergeron who served on the Sewer Commission for many years.27

28
5.    SPECIAL RECOGNITIONS29

30
5.a    Hooksett Municipal Employees – New Hires31

32
6.    SCHEDULED APPOINTMENTS33

34
7.    APPROVAL OF MINUTES35

36
8.    AGENDA OVERVIEW 37

38
9.    PUBLIC HEARINGS39

40
10.    CONSENT AGENDA41

42
10.a    On April 25, 2018, the Town Council approved accepting donations to fund the K9 43
Program.44

45
Motion to accept the donation of $5,000.00 from PROCON, to the Town of Hooksett for the 46
Hooksett Police Department per RSA 31:95-b, III (b) and return that amount to the Police 47
Departments budget, K9 trust Fund.48
Staff Report K9 June 20.docx49

50
51

63



TC Minutes 062018-U 2

Councilor Tsantoulis moved, second by Councilor Winterton, to accept the Consent Agenda 52
as presented.  Motion passed unanimously, 7-0.53

54
11.    TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT55

56
 Volunteer Appreciation dinner last Friday went well.57
 If the Council wishes to look into public WIFI in town hall, Dr. Shankle suggests waiting 58

until a new IT company has been contracted with.  Interviews have begun.59
 Dr. Shankle spoke with Mr. Christianson of Comcast.  He is sending in writing what the 60

town can and cannot do and when; either third or fourth quarter.61
 Work on firefighters’ contract is underway.62
 At the request of the Council, the minutes of a meeting wherein the Council requested 63

verbatim transcription on the bridge discussion should be done by the end of this 64
week.65

 The power went out during the last Planning Board meeting because a tree came down 66
“on our line” and was off the entire next day.67

68
12.    PUBLIC INPUT - 15 MINUTES69

70
Marc Miville of 42 Main Street and former Councilman came forward to say that he has 71
attended one or two moderator forums and has been working hard to educate himself on best 72
practices and ways to improve processes given his new duties as town moderator.  He said 73
at the last meeting Councilor Winterton asked what the cost was of replacing the bridge span 74
that is not like the other two.  He was dismayed when he heard Mr. Benoit of Dubois & King75
indicate they were taking the request under advisement.  Mr. Miville feels this answer is non-76
responsive and that the town contracted with Dubois & King to complete the bridge project to 77
the town’s specifications.  He said their perceived relationship issues shouldn’t preclude the 78
town’s right to get cost estimates from them, despite potential litigation.79

80
Referring to the draft minutes of the last meeting, Mr. Miville said Mr. Benoit said that once 81
the document was signed by him and Mr. Robert, it becomes official and then the 30 day 82
clock for the town to appeal starts.  So, if the town does not approve of the work and does not 83
sign the change order, Dubois & King waits 30 days to do the unapproved work and then bills 84
the town for work not agreed to or approved by the Town Council.  He added that this 85
subjects the town and taxpayers to the will and whim of DuBois & King’s actionable desire to 86
raise the costs with added contingency fees.87

88
13.    NOMINATIONS AND APPOINTMENTS89

90
Councilor Ross moved, second by Councilor Tsantoulis, to appoint the following individuals 91
as listed for terms expiring June 2021 unless otherwise specified.  Motion passed 92
unanimously, 7-0.93

94
Conservation Commission:  Cindy Robertson, Full Member; Todd Lizotte, Alternate95

96
Economic Development Advisory Committee:  David Scarpetti, Resident Rep; Ivan Gult, 97
Resident Rep; Roger Duhaime, Business Rep98

99
Heritage Commission: Kathleen Northrup, Full Member100

101
64



TC Minutes 062018-U 3

Parks and Recreation Advisory Board: Deb Miville, Full Member102
103

Planning Board:  Richard G. Marshall, Full Member; David Boutin, Alternate104
105

Recycling and Transfer Advisory Committee:  Raymond Bonney, Full Member106
107

Zoning Board of Adjustment:  Richard Bairam, Full Member; Don Pare, Alternate, Term 108
Expires June 2020109

110
14.    15 MINUTE RECESS111

112
15.    OLD BUSINESS113

114
15.a    Motion to allow the Hooksett Police Department to purchase from their unexpended full 115
time wage line, FY 17-18, a Sokkia Robotic Total Station from Maine Technical Source, 116
Yarmouth, Maine, to include accessories, and training and purchase CAD software through Dirigo 117
Software for a combined total of $31,334.66 (tabled from 6/13/18 Town Council Meeting).118

119
Councilor Winterton moved, second by Councilor Giotas, to remove this item from the table.  120
Motion passed unanimously, 7-0.121

122
Dr. Shankle reported that counsel has advised that impact fees are to be used for capital 123
projects only.  Councilor Winterton said he was in favor of his original motion for a number of 124
reasons; that is, it frees up officer time, opens up roads that might otherwise be closed for 125
much longer periods of time thereby improving public safety.  Councilor Levesque asked 126
what this was all about.  Chief Bouchard went over the benefits of the purchase as was 127
discussed at the last Council meeting.  The original motion made at the last Council meeting 128
is:  Chairman Sullivan moved, second by Councilor Duhaime, to authorize the purchase from 129
the Police Department’s unexpended full time wage line for fiscal year 2017-18 a Sokkia 130
Robotic Total Station from Maine Technical Source to include accessories, and training and 131
the purchase of CAD (Computer Aid Design and Drafting) software through Dirigo Software 132
for a combined total of $31,334.66.  Roll Call #2: Councilor Duhaime-yes, Councilor Ross-133
yes, Councilor Levesque-yes, Councilor Giotas-yes, Councilor Winterton-yes, Councilor 134
Tsantoulis-yes, Chairman Sullivan-yes.  Motion passed unanimously, 7-0.135

136
15.b   FY 2017-18 Budget Encumbrances137

138
Dr. Shankle said there were no changes made to the list of encumbrances from the last 139
meeting.  The last piece to come is for the structural work at the Old Town Hall that he 140
expects on Monday.  Council may want to encumber some funds for that purpose.  Councilor 141
Giotas asked if there might be three bids.  Dr. Shankle said three contractors showed up at 142
last week’s walk through and all seemed inclined to submit a bid.143

144
15.c New Pedestrian Bridge Update145

146
Dr. Shankle stated that the town attorney will be meeting with the Council at 5:30 on June 147
27th.148

149
15.d    Rte. 3A & Hackett Hill Road Roundabout Update150

151
65



TC Minutes 062018-U 4

There was nothing new to report and there is no need to continue to include this item on 152
meeting agenda.153

154
16.    NEW BUSINESS155

156
16.a  RFP 18-05 Technology Services157

158
Nick Germain, Project Coordinator, came forward indicating that on June 30th, Hooksett’s 159
current IT management contract with Spaulding Hill Networks will end.  An RFP for 160
technology services was put out in May.  The town received five proposals as of the closing 161
of June 4th – Acapella, Boston Systems and Solutions, Block-5, RMON, and Spaulding Hill 162
Networks.  The staff committee interviewed three of them.  Mr. Germain said that staff 163
concluded that the most flexible choice is Block 5 Technologies, though their bid is above 164
what was budgeted.  He said all bidders addressed the fundamental things and all proposals 165
were very different.166

167
Councilor Winterton asked “what do we have for a default budget today for that line item”?  168
The balance of $35,078 remains for tech services.  Mr. Germain said that while Block 5 169
represented a substantial increase in costs, changes in the RFP were made particularly to 170
emphasize improved future planning and to clarify expectations for particular support 171
services.  And while Spaulding has done a good job, more assistance with planning is 172
needed going forward and the town does not have the equipment to do that right now.173

174
Dr. Shankle said in addition to Block 5, Spaulding and Acapella were interviewed.  Acapella 175
has no experience with local government “to do what we need to do”, the price range is 176
where it needs to be.  He said all his emails disappeared and they still don’t know where they 177
went.  Mr. Germain said all those interviewed offered 24/7 services with Block 5 having more 178
flexibility; RMON may impose additional costs.  Mr. Germain passed out the service bids.  Dr. 179
Shankle said that committee representatives from fire and police along with Christine and 180
Nick, unanimously agreed on Block 5.181

182
Councilor Ross asked why the separate Fire and Police network should be put under the 183
auspices of one.  Dr. Shankle said he didn’t know that it would be cheaper and that there is a 184
lot of interaction between what they do and what we do and though the town doesn’t operate 185
24 hours, emergencies do occur, and he said, whoever is hired, they serve as Hooksett’s IT 186
Department.  Councilor Tsantoulis said IT costs are running out of control for a lot of 187
businesses and he would be cautious about having two different providers.  He said “it 188
sounds like a good opportunity to pay for something twice”.189

190
In response to Councilor Giotas on having the provider onsite, Mr. Germain said that Block 5 191
will be onsite as necessary.  Councilor Winterton asked why the second year costs were less 192
than the first year.  Mr. Germain said they asked for a second year option in the RFP.  193
Councilor Winterton said he appreciated the work of the committee and likes to give as much 194
business to Hooksett people as possible.  Dr. Shankle said Acapella didn’t have the 195
necessary experience and Fire and Police were very concerned about that.  Councilor 196
Winterton said public safety is a concern and that is the information he needs to make a 197
decision.198

199
Councilor Duhaime moved, second by Councilor Ross, to award the technology services 200
contract to Block 5 Technologies for one year as recommended, at a cost of $71,100, and to 201

66



TC Minutes 062018-U 5

authorize the Town Administrator to sign related documents to ensure compliance with 202
Administrative Code 5.3.  Roll Call #3: Councilor Giotas-yes, Councilor Ross-yes, Councilor 203
Duhaime-yes, Councilor Tsantoulis-yes, Councilor Levesque-yes, Councilor Winterton-yes, 204
Chairman Sullivan-yes.  Motion passed unanimously, 7-0.205

206
16.b  Contract for Build-Out Analysis for Route 3A207

208
Dr. Shankle said they have contracted with the Southern NH Planning Commission (SNHPC) 209
to continue the work on 3A that was started.  Money from the Warrant Article will be run 210
down.  Councilor Winterton moved, second by Councilor Duhaime, to sign the contract with 211
the Southern NH Planning Commission to continue the work on Route 3A as voted on by 212
Warrant Article.  Motion passed unanimously, 7-0.  Councilor Winterton asked if this 213
committed the entire amount of $100,000 to the SNHPC.  Dr. Shankle said “no” and they 214
were told “we may want them to subcontract as necessary”.215

216
16.c    Town of Hooksett Municipal Reorganization – will be addressed after the non-public 217
session.218

219
17.    SUB-COMMITTEE REPORTS220

221
Councilor Tsantoulis had nothing to report from the Board of Assessors and said there were 222
no scheduled meetings right now for the Youth Achiever Committee.223

224
Councilor Duhaime said the Parks and Recreation Committee met last night.  The Kiwanis 225
proposed a new location for the splash pad pavilion.  There was a lot of discussion about the 226
Master Plan.227

228
Councilor Winterton said the Sewer Commission met on Monday.  It was a somber meeting 229
due to the death of Roger Bergeron.  Richard Byrun will take the third seat until the next 230
election.  Stantec firm was hired and directed to leave the meeting and hire people to do the 231
drilling and get engineering costs and make arrangements to build a pump house.  The hope 232
is to have the drilling under the river done by the end of August and Mr. Larrabee breaks233
ground on his hotel by September.  The town can’t commit any funds but could do a warrant 234
article, within the TIF district.  If folks could see the framing of a pump station, major hotel, 235
then going to the voters for borrowing money to be paid off by TIF would be very optimistic 236
and encouraging.  Councilor Giotas asked about receipt of federal funds.  Councilor 237
Winterton said there are potential grant funds available through Merrimack County but it is 238
incumbent on staff to make sure they find that money.239

240
Councilor Winterton said the Planning Board met on Monday.  Power went out and they 241
finished their meeting in the dark.  University Heights came and wanted to make change to242
the Master Plan.  Their suggestion was to take land from University Heights and develop 243
apartments.  The suggestion was not received favorably.244

245
Councilor Winterton mentioned that the library was hosting a “Touch A Truck” event on 246
Saturday which is a wonderful event for kids.247

248
Councilor Ross said the Conservation Commission met on June 6th.  They received the first 249
installment of funds for Golf Road.  Reviewed trail construction and got estimates on three 250

67



TC Minutes 062018-U 6

different access points.  The Pinnacle kiosk is in place.  Panels will have to be reconfigured.  251
Looks great.  The paved entrance to Pinnacle is deteriorating.252

253
Councilor Levesque said the Zoning Board of Adjustments met.  They granted a request to 254
build out a third apartment for the owner to live in his home as well as his two daughters.  The 255
other matter involved 57 Hackett Hill Road to offer day spa and B&B services.  Matter was 256
postponed.  Applicant will be back in September.257

258
18.    PUBLIC INPUT259

260
Mr. Miville asked if there might be a conflict with Mr. Byrun serving on two committees.  261
Chairman Sullivan said they are two separate groups so it is not a conflict.262

263
Mr. Miville said apartments don’t add money to the tax base. Dalton Brook Pond was 264
discussed several times by Parks and Recreation.  It is overrun with brush and is tick 265
invested.  Perhaps the Fire Department could do a practice burn.  He said Mrs. Carter seems 266
to claim Dalton Brook Pond and not Carter Pond.  He said his wife looked at the deed and 267
there is nothing in the deed that stipulates it should be Carter Pond.  Councilor Ross said 268
“don’t ever burn brush…you’ll be dead”.269

270
19.    NON-PUBLIC SESSION271

272
19.a    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (a) The dismissal, promotion, or compensation of any public employee 273
or the disciplining of such employee, or the investigation of any charges against him or her.274

275
19.b    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (b) The hiring of any person as a public employee.276

277
19.c    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (c) Matters which, if discussed in public, would likely affect adversely the 278
reputation of any person, other than a member of the public body itself.279

280
J. Sullivan motioned to enter non-public session of 06/20/18 at 7:47pm. Seconded by D. 281
Winterton.282

283
Roll Call #6284
J. Levesque – yes285
D. Winterton – yes286
J. Giotas – yes287
D. Ross – yes288
T. Tsantoulis – yes289
R. Duhaime - yes290
J. Sullivan - yes291
Vote in favor (7-0).292

293
J. Sullivan motioned to exit non-public session of 06/20/18 at 8:20pm. Seconded by T. 294
Tsantoulis.  Vote unanimously in favor (7-0).295

J. Sullivan motioned to seal the non-public session minutes of 06/20/18. Seconded by T. 296
Tsantoulis.  Vote unanimously in favor (7-0).297

298
PUBLIC SESSION CONTINUED AT 8:20pm299

300
68



TC Minutes 062018-U 7

16c        Town of Hooksett Municipal Reorganization301
302

D. Winterton motioned to table the Town of Hooksett Municipal Reorganization to the Town 303
Council meeting of June 27, 2018. Seconded by T. Tsantoulis.  Vote unanimously in favor 304
(7-0).305

306
Councilor Winterton and the Town Administrator to meet with Manchester, NH Mayor Craig.307

308
20.    ADJOURNMENT309

310
J. Sullivan motioned to adjourn the public session of 06/20/18 at 8:25pm. Seconded by T. 311
Tsantoulis.  Vote unanimously in favor (7-0).312

313
314
315
316
317

NOTE:  The town website may have attachments to these Town Council minutes for 318
documents referred to in the minutes, reading file materials, and/or ancillary documents that 319
the Town Council has signed as agent to expend as a result of the Council’s prior approval of 320
the documents.321

322
323
324
325

Respectfully submitted,326
327
328

Suzanne Beauchesne329
Recording Clerk330

69



TOWN OF HOOKSETT
PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE

The Hooksett Town Council will be holding a public hearing on Wednesday, July 11, 
2018 @ 6:00pm at the Hooksett Town Hall Chambers, 35 Main Street, Hooksett, NH. 
The purpose of the public hearing is to accept $11,951.44 in grant funds from the 
Merrimack Conservation Partnership Land Transaction Grant Program to the Town of 
Hooksett for the Conservation Easement known as the Heroux Property "Clay Pond III"  
project Heroux Property 73.5 acres, Tax Map 4, Lot 9 North Candia Road per RSA 
31:95-b III (a). For maps or questions contact the Community Development Department 
at 603-268-0279.

70



Staff Report
Title: K9 Program Donation 

Date: 07/11/2018
Background Discussion of Issues
Citizens and business owners, have donated a combined total of $1,985.00 to the Hooksett 
Police Department.  The money donated is to be used to help fund the K9 Program.  Attached 
is a list of the citizens and business owners who have donated.

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
On April 25, 2018, the Town Council approved accepting donations to fund the K9 Program.

Motion to accept the donation of $1,985.00 from citizens and business owners, to the Town 
of Hooksett for the Hooksett Police Department per RSA 31:95-b, III (b) and return that 
amount to the Police Departments, K9 trust Fund.

Fiscal Impact
None

Prepared By: Captain Jake Robie
Town Administrator’s Recommendation

71



72



Staff Report
Title: UNLICENSED DOGS

Date: 7/11/2018
Background Discussion of Issues
Per NH RSA 466:14, “Town Clerk shall present governing body a list of those owners of dogs 
that have failed to license or not renewed their dog licenses pursuant to RSA 466:1”.
Civil forfeiture notices were mailed June 8.

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
Refer to statute for guidance.

Fiscal Impact
Unknown

Prepared By: Todd Rainier
Town Administrator’s Recommendation

73



TITLE XLV
ANIMALS

CHAPTER 466
DOGS AND CATS

Unlicensed Dogs

Section 466:14

   466:14 Warrants; Proceedings. – The town or city clerk shall annually, between June 1 and 
June 20, present to the local governing body a list of those owners of dogs that have failed to 
license or not renewed their dog licenses pursuant to RSA 466:1. The local governing body shall, 
within 20 days from June 20, issue a warrant to a local official authorized to issue a civil 
forfeiture for each unlicensed dog. The warrant may also authorize a local law enforcement 
officer to seize any unlicensed dog. The civil forfeiture may be sent by certified mail, or 
delivered in hand, or left at the abode of the dog owner. The cost of service shall not exceed $7 
and may be recovered by the city or town in addition to the amount of the civil forfeiture. If the 
unlicensed dog is seized, it shall be held in a town or city holding facility for a period of 7 days, 
after which time full title to the dog shall pass to the facility, unless the owner of the dog has, 
before the expiration of the period, caused the dog to be licensed. The owner shall pay the 
facility a necessary and reasonable sum per day, as agreed upon by the governing body of the 
town or city and the facility, for each day the dog has been kept and maintained by the facility, 
plus any necessary veterinary fees incurred by the facility for the benefit of the dog. Before a 
local law enforcement officer seizes any unlicensed dog, a written warning shall be given to the 
dog owner. 

Source. RS 127:5. CS 133:5. GS 105:5. GL 115:7. PS 118:8. 1891, 60:11. PL 150:18. RL 
180:18. RSA 466:14. 1965, 325:2. 1967, 150:1. 1977, 559:1. 1983, 198:1. 1987, 91:1. 1994, 
353:7. 1995, 298:10. 1996, 67:5. 2000, 128:1. 2001, 274:7, eff. July 16, 2001. 2014, 178:1, eff. 
July 1, 2014.

74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



Staff Report
Title:  Town Report Business

Date: 6/28/2018
Background Discussion of Issues
Council provides input for the town report on a variety of subjects. Project Coordinator will present details available 
to council as needed.  Generally, topics include, but are not necessarily limited to:

 The Council Chair’s Report
 Dedications
 Cover Pictures or Themes. 

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
Approve Council Chair’s Annual Report and other relevant details presented

Fiscal Impact

Prepared By: Nick Germain, Project Coordinator 
Town Administrator’s Recommendation
Concur

83



Staff Report
Title: NHMA Policies 2019-2020

Legislative Policy Process
Date: 7/11/2018

Background Discussion of Issues
Annually, the New Hampshire Municipal Association (NHMA) requests members to review and vote on legislative
policies:

Floor Policies (07/11/18 Town Council Meeting):  Our Town, approved by a majority vote of the governing 
body, may propose a policy to include: 1) to see if the NHMA will support/oppose, 2) the municipal interest to be 
accomplished by the proposal and 3) an explanation on the proposal.  These floor policies are due to the NHMA by 
08/10/18.  See attached Floor Policy Proposal form.

Voting on NHMA Policies (08/22/18 Town Council Meeting):  The Town Council will vote on the attached 
“Final Policy Recommendations for Legislative Policy Conference” and provide direction to a Council delegate 
who will attend the Friday, September 14, 2018 9:00am conference and cast our municipality’s vote.

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
07/11/18   1) receive NHMA policy packet and begin reviewing, and 2) create any floor policies from the Town of 
Hooksett, if applicable.

08/22/18   1) Vote on all NHMA policies in packet, 2) identify who will be the Council delegate to the 09/14/18 
NHMA conference, and 3) provide Council delegate direction on voting at the conference.

Fiscal Impact
To be determined based on final outcome of 09/14/18 NHMA conference.

Prepared By: Donna Fitzpatrick, Administrative Services Coordinator
Town Administrator’s Recommendation

84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99


	Town Council Agenda
	2016-1037 - TC Rules 041118.pdf
	2016-1037 - Adm Code Annual Review 063018.pdf
	2016-1037 - Admin Code 080917.pdf
	2016-1037 - Hooksett_s_Post_Issuance_Compliance_Policy.pdf
	2016-1029 - Staff_Report - Council Assignments.docx
	2016-1033 - TC Minutes 062018-U.docx
	2016-1041 - 071118 CONCOM GRANT PH.doc
	2016-1028 - Staff Report K9 July 11.docx
	2016-1028 - 20180627122211546.pdf
	2016-1039 - staff report - Dogs 2018-1.docx
	2016-1039 - Civil Forfeiture RSA 466 14.docx
	2016-1026 - Staff Report - Clay Pond III - Staff Report.pdf
	2016-1026 - Conservation Grant - Clay Pond III.pdf
	2016-1042 - 20180702143531605.pdf
	2016-1030 - Staff_Report - Council Report Business.docx
	2016-1046 - Staff Report NHMA Policies 2018.docx
	2016-1046 - NHMA POLICY 2018.pdf

